
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
Dr Helen Paterson, Chief Executive 

County Hall, Morpeth, Northumberland, NE61 2EF 
T: 0345 600 6400 

www.northumberland.gov.uk   
    

 

 Your ref:  
Our ref:  
Enquiries to: Lesley Little 
Email: Lesley.Little@northumberland.gov.uk 
Tel direct: 01670 622614 
Date: Tuesday, 23 May 2023 

 
 
Dear Sir or Madam, 
 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the FAMILY AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE to be held in CONFERENCE ROOM 2 - COUNTY 
HALL on THURSDAY, 1 JUNE 2023 at 10.00 AM.  

Yours faithfully 

 

 
 
Dr Helen Paterson 
Chief Executive 
 

 

To Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee members as follows:- 

C Ball, W Daley (Chair), R Dodd (Vice-Chair), S Fairless-Aitken, M Murphy, C Seymour, 
M Swinburn, T Thorne, H Waddell and A Watson 

Co-opted Members: A Hodgson, L Houghton, D Lennox, P Rickeard and J Sanderson 

 



 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 1 June 2023 

AGENDA 
 

PART I 
 

It is expected that the matters included in this part of the agenda 
will be dealt with in public. 

 
  

1.   MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
To Note the Membership and Terms of Reference for the Family and Children’s Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee as agreed at Annual Council on Wednesday 17 May 
2023.  
 
Membership 
 
19 Members 
 
10 County Councillors (5:3:1 Ind Gp, 1 LD)  
Quorum - 5 
 
Chair: W. Daley 
 
Vice Chair: R. Dodd 
 
Conservative Labour Independent 

Group 
Liberal 
Democrats 

Green 
Party 

Ind Non-
Grouped 

W. Daley C. Ball H. Waddell S. Fairless 
Aitken 

  

R. Dodd M. Murphy     
C. Seymour A. Watson     
M. Swinburn      
T. Thorne      

 
Also: 
2 Parent Governors (voting) – two vacancies 
3 Church Representatives (voting) – A. Hodgson, P Rickeard, Rev D Lennox 
4 Teacher Union Representatives (non-voting) – J Sanderson, L Houghton, two 
vacancies  
(all subject to satisfactory DBS clearance) 
 
These representatives may discuss non-education matters but shall not vote on those 
matters identified as being outside their remit. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
(a) To monitor, review and make recommendations about: 

• Early Years 
• Education and Schools 
• Special education needs and disability 
• Adult and Community Education 

 



 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 1 June 2023 

• Training and Vocational Education 
• Lifelong Learning 
• Youth Offending 
• Social Services for Children and Young People 
• Children’s Health 
• Teenage Sexual Health 
• Looked After Children 
• Safeguarding - Children 
• Youth Services 
• Family Services 
• Children’s Centres 

 
(b) To oversee and monitor school improvement, as follows: 
 

(i) To receive feedback on the Ofsted inspection of schools. 
(ii) To support the work of the County Council and the progress of schools on the 
School Intervention and Support Programme in specified categories. 
(iii) To receive an annual report about the number of schools that have been on the  
School Intervention and Support Programme, the reason(s) for their inclusion, the 
support given by the Council and the success of this support. 
(iv) To receive an annual report on the performance of schools 

 
  

2.   
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 

 

 
3.   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the Family and Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Meeting held on Thursday 4 May 2023, as circulated, to be agreed as a true 
record and be signed by the Chair. 
  
 

(Pages 1 
- 4) 

 
4.   DISCLOSURE OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

 
Unless already entered in the Council’s Register of Members’ interests, 
members are required where a matter arises at a meeting;  
  

a. Which directly relates to Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (‘DPI’) as set out in 
Appendix B, Table 1 of the Code of Conduct, to disclose the interest, not 
participate in any discussion or vote and not to remain in room. Where 
members have a DPI or if the matter concerns an executive function and is 
being considered by a Cabinet Member with a DPI they must notify the 
Monitoring Officer and arrange for somebody else to deal with the matter. 

  
b. Which directly relates to the financial interest or well being of a Other 

Registrable Interest as set out in Appendix B, Table 2 of the Code of Conduct 
to disclose the interest and only speak on the matter if members of the public 
are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in 
any discussion  or vote on the matter and must not remain the room. 

  
c. Which directly relates to their financial interest or well-being  (and is not  

DPI) or the financial well being of a relative or close associate, to declare the 

 



 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 1 June 2023 

interest and members may only speak on the matter if members of the public 
are also allowed to speak. Otherwise, the member must not take part in 
discussion or vote on the matter and must leave the room. 

  
d. Which affects the financial well-being of the member, a relative or close 

associate or a body included under the Other Registrable Interests column in 
Table 2, to disclose the interest and apply the test set out at paragraph 9 of 
Appendix B before deciding whether they may remain in the meeting. 

  
e. Where Members have or a Cabinet Member has an Other Registerable 

Interest or Non Registerable Interest in a matter being considered in exercise 
of their executive function, they must notify the Monitoring Officer and arrange 
for somebody else to deal with it.  

  
NB Any member needing clarification must 
contact monitoringofficer@northumberland.gov.uk.  Members are referred to 
the Code of Conduct which contains the matters above in full. Please refer to 
the guidance on disclosures at the rear of this agenda letter. 
  
  

5.   FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 
 
To note the latest Forward Plan of key decisions for June to September 2023.  
Any further changes made to the Forward Plan will be reported to the 
committee.  
  
 

(Pages 5 
- 10) 

 
6.   ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CHILDREN'S PRINCIPAL SOCIAL WORKER 

 
The report advises and updates the Scrutiny Committee about the input and 
work of the Principal Social Worker in 2022 and provides an overview of the 
quality of practice and development needs of frontline social workers. 
  
 

(Pages 
11 - 34) 

 
7.   HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT REVIEW BRIEFING. 

 
The purpose of the briefing note is to communicate the recommendations 
emerging from the home to school transport review and the progress to date in 
commencing initiatives in response to the recommendations.   
 
 

(Pages 
35 - 88) 

 
8.   FAMILY AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME AND MONITORING REPORT 2023/24 
 
Members are asked to review and note the Family and Children’s Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme and Monitoring Report.  
 
 

(Pages 
89 - 96) 

 
9.   URGENT BUSINESS 

 
 

mailto:monitoringofficer@northumberland.gov.uk


 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 1 June 2023 

IF YOU HAVE AN INTEREST AT THIS MEETING, PLEASE: 
  

● Declare it and give details of its nature before the matter is discussed or as soon as it 
becomes apparent to you. 

● Complete this sheet and pass it to the Democratic Services Officer.  

 
Name:   Date of meeting:  

Meeting:  

Item to which your interest relates: 

 

Nature of Interest i.e. either disclosable pecuniary interest (as defined by Table 1 of Appendix B to 
the Code of Conduct, Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest (as defined by 
Appendix B to Code of Conduct) (please give details):  
 

Are you intending to withdraw from the meeting?  
 

Yes - ☐ No - ☐ 
 

 



 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 1 June 2023 

Registering Interests 
 
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must register 
with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall 
within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 
 
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of 
your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 
 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or 
a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 
 
1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days of becoming 

aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the councillor, or a person 

connected with the councillor, being subject to violence or intimidation. 

 
3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with the reasons why 

you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer agrees they will withhold the interest 
from the public register. 

 
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 
 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not participate in any discussion or 
vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If 
it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. 

 
Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a 
matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is being 
considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the 
Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart 
from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 
Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 
 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or wellbeing of 
one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You 
may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but 
otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 
room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
 



 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 1 June 2023 

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests 
 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being 
(and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of 
a relative or close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in 
any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted 
a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

 
a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other Registrable Interests as set 
out in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain 
in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied 

 
9. Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 8 above) affects the financial interest or well- being: 

 
a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of inhabitants of the 

ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect 
your view of the wider public interest  

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting. Otherwise, you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and 
must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation.  
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest on a matter to be 
considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, 
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the 
matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 



 

Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 1 June 2023 

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 
  
Subject Description 
Employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship 
 
 
 
  

Any payment or provision of any other financial 
benefit (other than from the council) made to 
the councillor during the previous 12-month 
period for expenses incurred by him/her in 
carrying out his/her duties as a councillor, or 
towards his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit 
from a trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the councillor or 
his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which such 
person is a partner, or an incorporated body of 
which such person is a director* or a body that 
such person has a beneficial interest in the 
securities of*) and the council 
— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be 

provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is within the 
area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest 
or right in or over land which does not give the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil partner or 
the person with whom the councillor is living as 
if they were spouses/ civil partners (alone or 
jointly with another) a right to occupy or to 
receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, or 

his/her spouse or civil partner or the person 
with whom the councillor is living as if they 
were spouses/ civil partners is a partner of or 
a director* of or has a beneficial interest in 
the securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 1 June 2023 

where— 
(a) that body (to the councillor’s knowledge) has 

a place of business or land in the area of the 
council; and 

(b) either— 
i. the total nominal value of the 

securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or  

ii. if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any 
one class in which the councillor, or 
his/ her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is 
living as if they were spouses/civil 
partners has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

 
 

 
* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society. 
 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 
investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other 
securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society. 
 

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 
 
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to affect: 
 

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you are 
nominated or appointed by your authority 

 
b) any body 

 
i. exercising functions of a public nature 

ii. any body directed to charitable purposes or 
iii. one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union) 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Ch.’s Initials……… 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 4 May 2023 1 

NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

FAMILY AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 
At the meeting of the Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held at Council Chamber - County Hall on Thursday, 4 May 2023 at 10.00 am. 
 

PRESENT 
 

W Daley (Chair) (in the Chair) 
 
 

COUNCILLORS 
 

C Ball A Dale 
R Dodd S Fairless-Aitken 
M Richardson M Swinburn 
T Thorne A Watson 

 
CHURCH REPRESENTATIVES 

 
D Lennox P Rickeard 

 
 

TEACHER UNION REPRESENTATIVES 
 

L Houghton J Sanderson 
 

OFFICERS 
 

S Aviston Head of School Organisation and 
Resources 

A Kingham Executive Director - Children, Young 
People and Education 

L Little Senior Democratic Services Officer 
D Street Director of Education 

 
ALSO PRESENT 

 
G Renner-Thompson Cabinet Member 

 
 
Around 2 members of the press and public were present. 
 
80 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies were received from Councillor C Dunbar,  A Hodgson and C Angus.  
  
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Ch.’s Initials……… 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 4 May 2023  2 

 
81 MINUTES 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Family and Children’s Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Meeting held on Thursday 2 March 2023 were agreed as a true record 
and signed by the Chair.  
  
 

82 DISCLOSURE OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 
 
P Rickeard advised that he was both the Director of Education for the Diocese 
who had responded to the consultation and the Church Representative on this 
Committee.  
  
 

83 FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 
 
RESOLVED that the information be noted. 
  
 

84 OUTCOMES OF THE CONSULTATION ON PROPOSALS FOR THE BERWICK 
PARTNERSHIP 
 
A comprehensive introduction to the report was provided by S Aviston, Head of 
School Organisation and Resources with the recommendations for the next steps 
outlined.  Councillor Renner-Thompson, Portfolio holder for Children’s Services 
spoke on the background and reasoning behind the consultations for the Berwick 
Partnership and advised that the proposals had cross-party support going 
forward.   
  
Members thanked officers for the detailed report and sought clarification and 
reassurance on a number of areas. The Committee sought a plan for supporting 
smaller, rural schools to ensure their sustainability in light of the 
recommendations of this report. Officers explained that many small schools 
worked in mutual partnership with larger schools to ensure they could deliver high 
quality education.  Members were also advised that the opportunity would be 
taken to do any programmed maintenance work whilst on site as part of any 
works to be undertaken as part of these proposals should they be 
agreed.  Detailed plans for leisure and community use would need to be 
discussed with partners.   
  
Members expressed concerns that some students might be moved from schools 
rated as ‘Good’ to schools rated as ‘requires improvement' however, they were 
assured that the schools in the Berwick Partnership had been evolving and 
improving over recent years.  Officers reiterated to the Committee that the Council 
worked closely with the Regional Schools Director to offer strong support 
networks to these schools and that staff would be protected throughout the 
process with them moving with the pupils.  Members were also informed that the 
Berwick Partnership had requested the Schools Improvement Team to be their 
significant partner over the next year.  P Rickeard advised that he had recently 
spent time in Berwick Academy and had been impressed with the changes and 
the engagement between pupils and staff and the work being undertaken with the 

Page 2



Ch.’s Initials……… 

 
Family and Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Thursday, 4 May 2023  3 

Local Authority.  In relation to the previous drift of pupils out of the Partnership no 
one reason for this had been identified, however there were indications that some 
pupils were now returning.  
  
In response to a question regarding the possibility of expanding the existing 
setting for SEND pupils or opening a new SEND school, it was highlighted that an 
expansion had not been supported either by the Governors or staff at the existing 
school, it was not possible for the Local Authority to open a school themselves 
and the timeline for a free school to be provided was too extensive.   
  
RESOLVED that Cabinet be advised that this Committee supported the 
recommendations as outlined in the report.  
  
 

85 FAMILY AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
 
The work programme would be discussed at the next meeting.  
  
 

 

 

 CHAIR…………………………………….. 
 

        DATE………………………………………. 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Forward Plan 
 

 

   1 

FORTHCOMING CABINET DECISIONS JUNE TO SEPTEMBER 2023 
 

DECISION PROPOSED SCRUTINY DATE CABINET DATE 
 

North East Devolution 
The purpose of this report is to consider the responses from 
the public consultation on the Scheme developed as a result 
of the “minded to” North East Devolution deal 
agreed with central government in December 2022 and the 
next steps to be taken. 
(G. Sanderson/S. McMillan - 07814298052) 

 30 May 2023 

   

Ashington Regeneration Programme Establishment – 
Strategic Sites Acquisition 
To update Cabinet regarding the establishment, development 
and delivery of the £30m Ashington Regeneration 
Programme, which will have a catalytic impact on the town’s 
economy and drive forward the implementation of the 
Ashington Town Investment Plan. 
(W. Ploszaj/J. Rose - 07500 097568/ K. Donaldson -07966 
324034) 
(Partial confidential report) 
 

 13 June 2023 

Potential Loan to Northumberland Community Bank  
The Report requests members to approve the potential loan 
facility to Northumberland Community Bank of up to £50,000 
towards its capital reserve to maintain its Capital:Asset ratio in 
line with FCA Regulations .  
(R. Wearmouth/J. Willis - 01670 623424) 

 13 June 2023 

 

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 5



 

 

Trading Companies’ Financial Performance 2022-23 - 
Position at the end of March 2023 
The purpose of the report is to ensure that the Cabinet is 
informed of the current financial positions of its trading 
companies for 2022-23 (Confidential Report) 
(R. Wearmouth/M. Calvert - 01670 620 197) 
 

 13 June 2023 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) Update and 
Northumberland Delivery 
To provide an update on the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
(UKSPF) programme and the UKSPF funded projects secured 
by Northumberland County Council to support levelling-up 
activity across the County. 
(W. Ploszaj/S. McMillan – 07814298052) 
 

 13 June 2023 

   

Asset Management Framework 
The report presents for information and approval the new 
Asset Management Framework which includes a new Asset 
Management Policy and Asset Management Strategy for 
2023/2026. 
(R. Wearmouth/J. Willis - 01670 623424) 
 

 11 July 2023 

Financial Performance 2022-23 – Final Outturn (subject to 
audit) 
The report will provide Cabinet with the revenue and capital 
final outturn position against budget for 2022-23 (subject to 
audit). 
(R. Wearmouth/ K. Harvey 01670 624783) 
 

 11 July 2023 

Integrated Drug and Alcohol Service Contract  11 July 2023 

P
age 6



 

To seek permission from Cabinet to award the contract of 
Integrated Drug and Alcohol Service in Northumberland. This 
service will be commissioned using the public health ring 
fenced grant. The grant conditions state that Local Authorities 
must provide drug and alcohol services for its population. The 
contract is for four years 
(W. Pattison/J. Liddell - 07929 775559) 
 

North East Pathfinder (Foster with North East) 
Collaboration 
In response to the Independent Care Review and the launch 
of the Children’s Social Care Implementation Strategy, the 
Department for Education (DfE) has committed to recruiting 
9,000 foster carers by 2026.  The department is seeking to 
deliver a holistic package of intervention on a regional basis to 
support the greatest sufficiency pressures and put in place 
end-to-end improvements that support boosting foster carer 
numbers.  
 
Subsequently the DfE have selected the North East as the 
UK’s national pilot / pathfinder region for a fully-funded 1 year 
project to improve foster carer recruitment and retention and 
selected Together for Children Sunderland as the regional 
implementation lead.  
(G. Renner Thompson/A. Kingham -07814298047)  
   

 11 July 2023 

Northumberland Stewardship and Rural Growth 
Investment Programme – Nature Recovery Response 
As well as being a statutory requirement, the development of 
an ambitious North of Tyne Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
will support important elements of the Stewardship and Rural 
Growth Investment Plan, specifically Strategic Investment 

 11 July 2023 

P
age 7



 

Programme 1: Decarbonisation, Biodiversity and Resilience, 
and will also support the Local Investment in Natural Capital 
Programme that Northumberland and four other local 
authorities are piloting for DEFRA. This report will propose 
governance arrangements for the North of Tyne Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy (LNRS). It will also propose that 
Northumberland County Council joins other local authorities in 
declaring an ecological emergency to coincide with the 
commencement of work on the LNRS. This will create a 
framework for the Council’s work on nature recovery and will 
also be a public statement of intent, acknowledging the 
widespread and growing concern about the state of nature in 
the UK. 
(C. Horncastle/D. Feige - (0777 429 5253) 
 

   

Outcomes of Statutory Consultation regarding School 
Reorganisation in the Berwick Partnership 
This report sets out an analysis of the representations and 
responses received from interested parties and stakeholders 
during the four-week statutory consultation, which 
commenced on 11 May and closed on 8 June 2023, in relation 
to proposals for schools in the Berwick Partnership. Cabinet is 
asked to make a final decision on whether or not to approve 
the proposals, including school closures, set out in the 
statutory proposal. At the same time, Cabinet is requested to 
make a final decision on whether or not to approve the non-
statutory proposals relating to the voluntary schools within the 
Berwick Partnership as set out in the Report of the Executive 
Director of Adult Social Care and Children’s Services, Berwick 
Partnership Organisation – 9 th May 2023. In making its final 
decision, Cabinet are advised to consider the decision of the 

FACS 18 July 2023 20 July 2023 

P
age 8



 

DfE’s Regional Director of Education for the North East with 
respect to proposed changes to St Cuthbert’s Catholic First 
School and Berwick Academy. 
(G. Renner Thompson/S. Aviston - (01670) 622281) 
 

   

Trading Companies’ Financial Performance 2022-23 - 
Position at the end of June 2023 
The purpose of the report is to ensure that the Cabinet is 
informed of the current financial positions of its trading 
companies for 2023-24 (Confidential report) 
(R. Wearmouth/M. Calvert - 01670 620 197) 
 

 12 September 2023 

   

Leisure Programme Update 
To update Cabinet with progress on the Leisure programme 
(J. Watson/M. Donnelly 07517 553463) 
 

N/A 12 December 2023 

Trading Companies’ Financial Performance 2022-23 - 
Position at the end of September 2023 
The purpose of the report is to ensure that the Cabinet is 
informed of the current financial positions of its trading 
companies for 2023-24 (Confidential report) 
(R. Wearmouth/M. Calvert - 01670 620 197) 
 

 12 December 2023 

   

Trading Companies’ Financial Performance 2022-23 - 
Position at the end of December 2023 
The purpose of the report is to ensure that the Cabinet is 
informed of the current financial positions of its trading 
companies for 2023-24 (Confidential report) 
(R. Wearmouth/M. Calvert - 01670 620 197) 

 12 March 2024 

P
age 9



 

 

   

Leisure Programme Update 
To update Cabinet with progress on the Leisure programme 
(J. Watson/M. Donnelly 07517 553463) 

N/A 9 April 2024 

 

P
age 10



 

1 

 

 
FAMILY AND CHILDREN’S OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
1st June 2023 
 
 
Annual Report of the Children’s Principal Social Worker  

Report of: Audrey Kingham, Executive Director of Children, Young People and Education 

and Graham Reiter, Service Director, Children’s Social Care 

Cabinet Member for Children’s Services:  Guy Renner-Thompson  

 

1. Purpose of report 

 

To advise and update the Scrutiny Committee about the input and work of the 

Principal Social Worker in 2022 and an overview of the quality of practice and 

development needs of frontline social workers. 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

It is recommended that: 

 

1) The Committee acknowledges the contents of the report and the work that has 

been completed over the last year. 

 

2) Members agree the priorities and identify any further areas for scrutiny or 

challenge if required.  

 

3. Link to Corporate Plan  

 

This report is relevant to the NCC Children and Young People’s Plan 2019-22 

  

4. Key issues  

 

• Recruitment and retention of children’s social workers 

• Manageable caseloads 

• Practice improvement 

• Impact post pandemic on practice and service delivery 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

2 

 

 

 

5. BACKGROUND   

 

5.1      The role of the Principal Social Worker is to take a professional social work lead 

across the organisation to influence strategic decision making, respond to national 

initiatives and take part in developing a body of knowledge that supports front line 

practice.  

 

5.2    Part of this function is to provide feedback to key groups including elected members. 

A report was provided by the Principal Social Worker to FACS (Family and 

Children’s Services) Scrutiny meeting in April 2022. This included information 

about activity relating to recruitment, staff training and development, caseloads 

and practice improvement. This report will elaborate on those themes and outline 

the plan for 2023/24. 

 

5.3 Workforce 

 

5.3.1 Facts/figures 

 

Northumberland Local Authority Social Work Workforce statistical information data 

is provided to the Department of Education on an annual basis. The reporting year 

runs from October to September. The graph below at 5.3.1a provides information 

submitted Nov 2022. 

5.3.1a 

Indicator NCC Oct 

20 to 

Sept 21 

NCC 

Oct 21 

to Sept 

22 

National 

figure 

(21-22) 

 

Regional 

figure 

(21-22) 

 

a) Turnover Rate  15.8% 

 

15.9% 

 

17.1% 13.7% 

b) Agency Worker 

Rate 

10.0% 6.2% 17.6% 9.7% 

c) Vacancy Rate  11.6% 8.1% 20.0% 11.2% 

d) Days lost to 

sickness absence 

1713 873.7 

 

  

e) Absence Rate  3.6% 1.9%  3.5% 3.1% 

f) Caseload average at 15.1 17.1 16.6 18.0 

Page 12



 

3 

 

30-09-20 

  

5.3.2  Northumberland Children’s turnover rate (15.9% - 28.8 social workers) is lower 

than the national average of 17.5% however higher than the regional average of 

13.7%. This is a slight increase on the previous year's figure of 15.8%. However, 

the vacancy rate has reduced for Northumberland and markedly lower than the 

national average and lower than the regional average.   

 

5.3.3   Reasons for leaving include staff going to other authorities or organisations for new 

roles or promotion, staff moving to agency roles or choosing another career path. 

There are also positive reasons for staff leaving which includes retirement or 

moving closer to family. (Please see further information below for initiatives taken 

to retain staff).  

 

5.3.4   Social workers who left to work in other Local Authorities were predominantly based 

in the safeguarding locality teams. These teams manage very complex, child and 

family cases. In line with thresholds, a number of these children have or may have 

suffered significant harm. The emotional impact on staff who work in this particular 

sector can be high.  

  

5.3.5  There are a significant number of social workers nationally who have left children’s 

social work in its entirety. (As per the national graph below at 5.3.6). The length of 

service of 5 years or less equates to 69.4% of the national workforce. This is 

particularly concerning as the role can be challenging and complex therefore 

workforce time served experience is an important factor.  

 

 

 

Page 13



 

4 

 

   5.3.6      Department for Education’s Children’s National Workforce Data Report (September 2022) 

 

5.3.7   Nationally there has been a 2.7% decrease (or 900 social workers less from a year 

earlier) of Full Time Equivalent (FTE) child and family social workers in post at 30 

September 2022.  To assist with recruitment of experienced social workers, I have 

supported the development of a Northumberland children’s specific recruitment 

landing page which is disseminated via a number of social media portals. Current 

adverts are live and prospective applicants’ access vacancies in real time via the 

link.    

 

              The Department for Education commissioned an Independent Review of 

Children’s Social care which was published in May 22. A review has been 

welcomed by the PSW Network 

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308122535mp_/https://c

hildrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/The-

independent-review-of-childrens-social-care-Final-report.Fpdf 

 

             
The PSW Network is heavily involved in consultation events to support practice and in turn, 
positive outcomes for children and families moving forward.  A section of the review has a 
particular focus on workforce with 5 key areas considered to develop potential of the 
workforce. 

 
• Reducing bureaucracy  
• Developing expertise through an early career framework  
• Tackling social work agencies  
• Developing the wider children's social care workforce  
• Supporting Leadership  

 

https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp 
content/uploads/2022/05/Realising-the-potential-of-the-workforce.pdf  
 

 

 

5.3.8   A stable workforce is imperative. It offers consistency of key worker for children 

and families whilst providing an anchor for colleagues to manage the demands of 

the role. To better understand the reasons for Northumberland’s social workers 

leaving, we offer exit meetings between the leaver and their line manager prior to 

departure and an exit questionnaire via HR.  

 

5.3.9   However, to enhance understanding of the reasons for departure I continue to 

offer an additional exit meeting between myself and the staff member. These 

meetings are attended on a 1:1 voluntary basis.  Since September 2022, 6 

members of staff have been offered a meeting.  

 

Page 14

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308122535mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/The-independent-review-of-childrens-social-care-Final-report.Fpdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308122535mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/The-independent-review-of-childrens-social-care-Final-report.Fpdf
https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20230308122535mp_/https:/childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/The-independent-review-of-childrens-social-care-Final-report.Fpdf
https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp%20content/uploads/2022/05/Realising-the-potential-of-the-workforce.pdf
https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/wp%20content/uploads/2022/05/Realising-the-potential-of-the-workforce.pdf


 

5 

 

                

5.3.10   The roles 6 staff members held in Northumberland prior to leaving 

 

• 2 x Advanced Practitioner 

• 3 x Social Worker 

• 1 x Newly Qualified Social Worker (both no longer fulfil the role of Social 

Worker) 

 

 

 

5.3.11    Of note, all 6 worked in Locality Safeguarding Teams and have moved into 

other areas of social work or the private sector. Roles include; 

 

• 2 x Children Looked After Team. Each in a different Local Authority 

• Children with Disabilities Team in another Local Authority 

• Family Court Advisor  

• Specialist Mental Health Mentor in the Private Sector 

• Supervising Social Worker for an Independent Fostering Agency 

 

 

5.3.12   It is envisaged continual monitoring and evaluating data and speaking directly to 

leavers/prospective leavers will support us to better understand the reasons for 

staff choosing to leave. As discussed, the Care Review is welcomed, and it is 

hoped effective changes are made nationally to support retention of staff in these 

hard to retain/recruit to service areas.   

 

  

5.3.13   A number of experienced workers choose to work for social work agencies and 

historically due to local demand they have been in a strong position to command 

high rates of pay. In a bid to take control of the market the regional workforce leads 

were working collaboratively to cap charges payable to agency staff through the 

regional memorandum of understanding (MoU). However due to the increased 

issues around recruiting experienced social workers, this has been challenging in 

terms of all 12 LA’s adhering to the memorandum. The regional lead for this is 

Northumberland’s Service Director and the regional Directors of Children’s 

Services are currently reviewing this.  

 

5.3.14  The memorandum had supported consistency of key worker for children and 

families within the region. Another benefit was consistency of team building, peer 

support and stability, which is vital in this service area due to the emotive issues 

which safeguarding children can bring. However, staff wellbeing, specifically post 

pandemic has been a priority. We understand employees bring their whole selves 

to work and as discussed above, it is important to support staff who may 

Page 15



 

6 

 

experience vicarious or secondary trauma from their roles. Please find further 

information regarding staff wellbeing within the wellbeing section at 5.7.  

 

5.3.15  The workforce return table at 5.3.1a illustrates that Northumberland’s use of 

agency staff has decreased since last year and remains lower than the regional 

and national average.  

 

5.3.16   Staffing capacity remains a challenge. However, in line with the Corporate Plan 

we are keen to increase the number of skilled staff in permanent positions and 

reduce numbers of agency staff.  

 

5.3.17   To support our staff capacity, we are utilising the role of social work support 

assistants and back-office support staff, creatively. This includes effectively 

utilising staff joining the Children’s Academy to add additional capacity before they 

commence in their social work roles. The development of the apprenticeship route 

is also supporting capacity issues as well as student placement opportunities.   

 

5.3.18  Sickness absence is a key priority for the Council and Children’s Services. The 

sickness rate for this group is 1.9% compared to a rate of 3.6% last year and an 

NCC target of 3.5%. Every effort was and is made to remain in regular close 

contact by line management and peers alike to support each other during these 

times. There are still occasions when some staff have to isolate due to Covid. It is 

testament to our staff that they have continued to work from home to fulfil their role 

in safeguarding our children and supporting families.  

 

5.3.19   As a leadership team we have continually focused on staff wellbeing throughout 

and post pandemic ensuring we are trying to offer support to staff in a range of 

ways through virtual means as well. We continue to address and monitor sickness 

absence.    

 

5.3.20  The graph below at 5.3.20a provides the reasons recorded for sickness leave 

(period Oct 2021 to Sept 2022). A significant percentage is due to emotional 

health. 

 

5.3.20a    

Absence Reason  
FTE Lost 

days  
Occurrences      

Anxiety/stress/depression/other psychiatric illnesses 755.59 23 

Other Reasons 625.63 57 

Pregnancy related disorders 133.73 7 

Cold, Cough, Flu - Influenza 124.18 32 

Page 16



 

7 

 

Gastrointestinal problems 66.81 15 

Benign and malignant tumours, cancers 64.00 1 

Infectious diseases 50.50 9 

Chest & respiratory problems 40.00 6 

Genitourinary & gynaecological disorders 29.32 2 

Ear, nose, throat (ENT) 17.64 5 

Headache / migraine 10.60 6 

Eye problems 10.00 1 

Dental and oral problems 3.00 1 

 

 5.3.21 Stress/depression etc is the highest denominator of sickness. The ongoing impact 

post covid coupled with national headlines around the very sad outcomes for 

children such as Arthur and Star has impacted social work/care morale. This is 

reflected in the number of social workers leaving the profession last year (900 

nationally).  

 

        However the NCC staff survey identifies Children’s Services Directorate as relatively 

positive in comparison to other NCC Service Directorates. This is testament to our 

staff and the leadership in managing relational practice to effect, under challenging 

circumstances and the impact of vicarious trauma. I will discuss specific survey 

responses within the wellbeing section below.  

 

                                      

 

 

5.3.22   The caseload average figures on 5.3.1a indicate a slight increase from last year, 

however, well below national and regional averages. Complexity of cases has not 

reduced. To the contrary, this reflects the significant work that is being undertaken 

to manage demand at the front door and apply appropriate thresholds and the 

effectiveness of the early help offer which also supports the step-down of cases 

without delay once social work interventions have been completed. 3 years later, 

covid has continued to bring about challenges to service delivery in terms of the 

pressures this ongoing phenomenon has placed upon families and practice.  

Page 17



 

8 

 

 

5.3.23   A caseload weighting system is utilised to reflect the complexity of work in a more 

meaningful way than purely reporting on case numbers. This tool takes account of 

number of children, distance to travel (Northumberland does have challenges due 

to the geographic vastness of area) complexity of the case issues and 

administrative work required to provide a more helpful comparator. 

 

5.3.24   The workload weighting system shows 60% of Practitioners were working at or 

below capacity in February 2021. This has declined from 77% at the same period 

in 2020.  

 

5.3.25    Media headlines, residual issues of covid including challenges for families around 

significant growth of mental health and the cost-of-living crisis has resulted in 

additional referrals, in turn placing further pressure on social worker capacity.  

 

5.3.26   The graph above (5.3.1a) cites our caseloads are slightly lower than the regional 

average but higher than the national average. 

 

5.3.27   As a service, all attempts are made to address caseloads however the recurring 

issue of retention within children’s social care, both locally and nationally can 

impact this as work does need to be allocated with children being the priority. We 

continue to contribute to regional work on this.   

 

5.3.28   The service areas with additional workloads are prioritised for placing newly 

recruited experienced staff into them and support staff, to relieve pressure. The 

staff structure will be reviewed regularly alongside the recruitment strategy to 

determine what changes are needed in line with requirements. 

 

5.4 Recruitment  

 

5.4.1 Recruitment and development of Newly Qualified Social Workers has been 

relatively successful. However, we are mindful of lower numbers of applicants 

regionally and other LAs are emulating our successful Academy model therefore 

the pool is becoming smaller. 15 new starters joined us with an additional cohort 

of 5 joining recently (March 2023).  

 

5.4.2 We are currently interviewing for the next Cohort who will commence their role as 

social workers in the Academy - September 2023. 

 

5.4.3 To address regional shortages, in line with ‘Our Grow our Own’ initiative our first 

Cohort of BA Social Work Apprentices in their final year (5) will join the Academy 

in September 2023 (pending successful completion of the end point assessment 

- June 2023).  

 

Page 18



 

9 

 

5.4.4 In line with succession planning, we currently have 9 BA Apprenticeship students 

(sourced internally) in the pipeline/system. We endeavour to utilise this route to 

provide a steady stream of social workers moving forward as it also provides 

opportunity to staff who have been loyal to Northumberland County Council as an 

employer of choice.  However due to the nature of children’s social work and the 

recruitment challenges nationally we have extended our BA Social Work 

apprenticeship net to include external applicants with transferable skills. We have 

received a pleasing number of applications and hope to monopolise on this. 

 

5.4.5 As discussed, routes into the Academy include successful completion of a BA or 

MA degree via local universities. Student placements supports capacity within 

teams as the students fulfil several duties including supervised family time contact 

and direct work with children and families. I am strategic lead for the DfE’s Step 

Up to Social Work fast track initiative which occurs every 2 years. We had 3 Step 

Up students who commenced the 14 months Programme in January 2022 and 

conclude June 2023. Participants have been interviewed for the subsequent 

Academy Cohort.   

 

5.4.6 Recruitment of experienced staff remains a challenge which impacts differentially 

in some services. We use a number of means including targeted social media to 

attract experienced social workers. We also include staff ‘talking heads’ within our 

advertisements for prospective applicants to hear from individuals with actual work 

experience in Northumberland.  

 

5.4.7 We remain part of the regional North-East Social Work Alliance (NESWA) which 

includes all 12 LA’s and local universities. We recognise the importance of 

relationship building with peers/colleagues to support and implement our 

strategies. I am also the Vice Chair for the Regional BAME Liaison Group.   

 

5.4.8 We are always looking for ways to further strengthen recruitment and retention. 

We are keen for Northumberland Children’s to remain an employer of choice. With 

that said, positive relationships with local universities supports our participation 

during recall days to discuss the benefits of working in Northumberland. We attend 

recall days to ensure maximum in person audiences, due to the new world of 

hybrid practices, which brings challenges around relationship/rapport building. We 

also ensure an alumnus of the respective university (who now works for us) also 

attends to discuss his/her own experience. We have used these sessions to dispel 

the myth of ‘extra travel’ with the area being geographically large.  

 

5.4.9 We have extended our reach by engaging with Cumbria and Edinburgh 

Universities to support recruitment for our West Locality Team and North Locality 

Team.  

 

Page 19



 

10 

 

5.4.10 As discussed, recruitment of experienced staff is both a national and regional issue 

with all Local Authorities in the North-East experiencing similar difficulties. 

Ongoing attempts have been made to address the issues.  

 

5.4.11  It seems the pressures of covid, and the associated risks around frontline social 

work has impacted interest in joining Children’s Social Work. Recruitment to study 

social work from staff working in children’s residential homes was a regular stream 

of future social workers. However anecdotally, it seems people generally are less 

inclined to do shift work since covid. It has become an employee market across 

every sector, whether that is retail or hospitality for example. More prospective 

employees are seeking employment which permits them to work entirely or 

predominantly from home. This has added to the challenges of recruitment for 

social care generally, notwithstanding children’s social work which has 

experienced retention issues for a number of years pre covid. It is disappointing 

(both nationally and via the media) that promotion and acknowledgement of 

children’s social work staff and all that has been done to support the most 

vulnerable in society during and pre covid, has not been as recognised.   

 

5.4.12 In line with future planning for social work recruitment in Northumberland, I partook 

in an online question/answer session (via the SpringPod initiative) with 16–18-

year-old students interested in a career in children’s social work. 

 

5.5 Assessed and Supported Year in Employment (ASYE) 

 

5.5.1 Since the previous Annual Report, Northumberland Children’s ASYE Academy 

has supported new starters into post. This Academy model continues to support 

the transition from academic study by offering high support and constructive 

challenge to ensure social workers keep children at the heart of everything they 

do during and after transition to experienced social worker. This has been 

recognised during a review by Skills for Care citing; The programme has continued 

to grow in strength which was evident from the self-assessment and the 360- 

degree evaluation… NQSWs in Northumberland benefit from consistent 

assessors who are well experienced and work collaboratively with senior leaders 

to ensure that there is a culture of learning and shared values which is a strength. 

Equality, diversity, and inclusion are a strength in Northumberland ASYE 

programme despite a limited diverse population’.  

 

5.5.2 Newly qualified staff in the Academy are offered a comprehensive support 

package which includes: 

 

● A thorough induction (corporate and social work specific) for each cohort. 

We have developed a social care induction SharePoint to assist with this. 

https://northumberland365.sharepoint.com/sites/ChildrensSocialCareInduction 

  

Page 20



 

11 

 

● Consistent experienced management provides a high level of accessibility to 

ensure effective, approachable line management. In September 2022 we 

had 3 x Academy Team Managers, dedicated to supporting the Academy 

through their ASYE Programme. (This has subsequently been scaled back 

to reflect reduced numbers). Every effort is made to make effective use of 

management generally, reflected by wider service need. We will review this 

dependant on the numbers following recruitment for the next Cohort 10- 

September 2023 start).  

 

5.5.3     Regardless of the challenges faced due to covid, every effort has been made to 

continue the offer of a thorough, structured training programme and graduated 

caseload to ensure these cohorts are fully supported to develop their skills.  

 

5.5.4   Whilst covid greatly impacted staff regularly working/attending their office bases on 

a daily basis, every effort has been made to provide an opportunity for the newly 

qualified cohorts to commence their careers as a collective. The invaluable peer 

learning and open office conversations with managers is a key aspect of effective 

social work action learning during their first 6 months in children’s social work.  

 

● The workers have and will continue to transition to safeguarding teams for 

the following 6 months of the ASYE programme. This will include a mix of 

working virtually and attending the office during duty days and team days in 

line with regional competitive flexible working. 

 

● Support continues from the Academy team managers until completion of the 

portfolio. This includes practice assessor responsibility and regular reflective 

supervision. I have also fulfilled the role of practice ssessor in order to fully 

support and monitor the high level of practice expected of the social workers.    

 

5.5.5    The benefits of the Academy model adopted since 2018 have been realised as 

the ASYE’s who have commenced their career via this route describe a positive 

experience. (A significant number of the Academy alumni have successfully 

applied for internal promotions in line with effective succession planning). 

 

5.5.6    Timing of recruitment continues to be aligned with university/course completion in 

order to ensure Northumberland attracts ‘the best candidates’. As discussed, 

candidates who provide particularly strong application forms, evidencing their 

transferable skill set and desire to support children and families, are interviewed 

prior to full completion of their degree and offered a post as a social work support 

assistant within locality safeguarding teams.  

  

5.5.7    It is also an opportunity for new appointees to network and build relationships 

whilst offering support to ‘pressure point’ teams. 

 

Page 21



 

12 

 

5.5.8     Due to the success of the Academy, other regional LA’s have sought our advice 

in terms of implementing this model in their respective areas. Our own 

Northumberland Adult’s Service have also emulated the Academy model which 

commenced in September 2022.    

 

5.6  Staff Retention 

 

5.6.0    To ensure continual recognition and encouragement of staff, we have 

recommenced a graduation ceremony for staff who completed their ASYE. 

Practice assessors are also invited and acknowledged for their part in developing 

the ASYE’s. The event was well received with attendee staff saying they feel 

recognised and valued.  

 

5.6.1    World Social Work Day is celebrated by senior management and service users 

recording words of affirmation. These recordings are disseminated throughout the 

day/week in acknowledgment of all that social care staff do to support 

Northumberland’s most vulnerable children and families. This year's theme was:  

                                   
                                                                                                                      

 

 

5.6.2    As discussed, due to careful development and recognition of their skillset, our 

Academy alumni have successfully transitioned into experienced social workers, 

advanced practitioners and now team manager level. This is testament to the 

programme as the alumni are proactively role modelling future opportunities for 

their peers.   

 

5.6.3     However, we fully recognise it is imperative to support staff to ‘walk’ before they 

‘run’ in order to ensure we continually support children and families here in 

Northumberland.  We have focused heavily on our ‘learning culture for staff’ which 

I will discuss further on.  

 

Page 22



 

13 

 

5.6.4   We are extremely conscious of the regional and national issue around a shortage 

of experienced children’s social workers. Therefore, it is envisaged 

Northumberland’s ‘grow our own’ model of effective, confident, competent 

practitioners will continue to be a route to assist in addressing the local shortage 

of experienced social workers.  

 

5.6.5    We have continued to develop this route by proactively upscaling the BA Social 

Work Apprenticeship numbers. We are keen to progress alternatively qualified 

staff into the masters apprenticeship. I am supporting Sunderland University to 

progress this route, as a member of the regional apprenticeship strategic group.  

 

5.6.6    Until now, we have intentionally selected internal applicants to recognise and 

support staff who have shown a loyalty and commitment to working for 

Northumberland Council. This is in line with Northumberland’s Corporate Plan 

mandate. 

 

5.6.7   September 2022 saw another 4 Apprentices join the programme from internal 

routes.  A mentor role is required as part of the programme. We continually 

encourage managers and their social workers to fulfil this role as part of their 

continuing professional development (CPD). It is important to always consider and 

implement CPD opportunities for social workers to continually develop their 

practice within a number of forums. 

 

5.6.8    We also recognise from exit meetings/information staff move to other areas for 

promotion/s development. Therefore, we endeavour to offer this in house in the 

first instance and retain staff in the best interests of consistency and relationship 

building.  

 

5.6.9   We have advanced practitioners partaking in the regional leadership and 

management - social worker to first line managers programme. 

  

5.6.10  We currently have 3 team managers partaking in the practice supervisor 

development programme. This DfE funded programme is a CPD offer for staff who 

are responsible for supporting and developing the practice of others. 

           

 5.6.11  Experienced social workers have also supported apprentices, by fulfilling the 

mentor role. This again provides opportunity for staff to hone/share skills by 

partaking and adhering to our ongoing ‘learning culture’ as an organisation. A 

mentor is the consistent link for BA social work apprentices throughout the duration 

of their degree. The mentor facilitates reflective supervision with the apprentice 

and completes documentation for the tri partite meetings which occur every 8 

weeks. As the apprenticeship is relatively new, I also fulfil the role of mentor for 

one of our apprentices. I am also a panel member for end point assessments. This 

involvement supports a clearer understanding of best practice expectations. I hold 

Page 23



 

14 

 

regular meetings with the apprentices and mentors to support both elements as 

required.  

                  

5.6.12 We have strong positive working relationships with higher education establishments 

through the teaching partnership, supporting students to be equipped with the 

necessary skills and knowledge in preparation for being part of our future social 

work force. We offer high quality placements and this in turn provides an 

opportunity to further develop current staff by supporting social workers to become 

practice educators. We are conscious of expanding our practice educator stock 

due to alternative routes into social work, such as the apprenticeship which 

requires 2 placements; one 70-day placement and one 100 -day placement. This 

is also supporting continued professional development of staff. As an experienced 

practice educator, I complete verification and observation of trainee practice 

educators.  

  

5.6.13   In turn it is also beneficial to have a pool of ‘seasoned’ practitioners once they 

have completed their studies. This is evident in the high number of students who 

have successfully transitioned (via a thorough recruitment process) into a 

permanent social work post.  

 

5.6.14  As Signs of Safety is our chosen practice model, the senior management role 

model expectations of service delivery by partaking in sessions with our frontline 

staff. We are keen to display learning happens at all levels and is continual.  

  

 5.6.15  As a predominant WB demographic both resident and staffing, we are mindful of 

ensuring our staff consider all elements of inclusivity, including race. My managers 

have supported my chairing of the race equality network for Northumberland 

Council. I ensure learning and information is shared regularly with our own staff 

within children’s social care to raise awareness and build confidence in delivering 

an effective, informed service to all. This information is shared via PSW 

interactions with staff. 

 

5.6.16  As the PSW I have promoted children’s social care/private fostering during 

Northumberland’s national safeguarding adult’s week.  

 

5.7     Wellbeing 

 

Considering all of the above and the rising referral rates, we have made every 

effort to support staff wellbeing. The table below at 5.7.0 provides the responses 

of Children’s Social Care who participated in the NCC Corporate Survey. 

 

Table 5.7.0 

Out of 
100% 

Question/statement 

Page 24



 

15 

 

76.09% I often/always look forward to going to work. 

84.54% I feel trusted to do my job. 

88.34% I am able to do my job to a standard I am satisfied with. 

76.35% I am able to meet all conflicting demands on my time at work. 

77.29% I have adequate resources to do my work. 

52.68% Are there enough staff in my department for me to do my job 
properly? 

91.17% I am satisfied with support from immediate management 

96.53% I feel my role makes a difference to residents/service 
users/customers 

81.07% Communication between senior management (Head of Service 
level) and staff is effective 

 

  

5.7.1     Results of the staff survey conducted has provided further insight into priority 

areas. As discussed, retention of experienced staff is critical to maintain low 

turnover rates. As discussed regardless of covid, children’s safeguarding teams 

commonly experience staff moving on after a short period of time as they can feel 

stressed by the type of work and its associated demands.   

  

 5.7.2    It is reassuring to read there is recognition of the efforts made by the leadership 

to ensure our social care staff can meet the needs of their role by being valued as 

an invaluable resource, in turn meeting the needs of our most vulnerable residents. 

 

5.7.2a   Covid has had an impact on our staff. Overall, our social workers have been 

tenacious and resourceful in their approach during these unprecedented times. 

A ‘can do’ attitude remains, regardless of the concerns around themselves as 

professionals and all that this entails, as well as factors which impact on their 

personal lives. All of this test’s resilience which is borne from a balance between 

the personal and professional.          

 

5.7.3    We understand effective supervision is a priority. It is important for staff to have the 

opportunity to focus on both case management and reflection. 

         

5.7.3a   Staff wellbeing across the whole of Northumberland Council remains a priority 

area. This is specifically important due to the pandemic and the offer has been 

adapted accordingly, providing virtual forums. 

 

 5.7.4   I hold a regular PSW virtual forum for staff to connect with me.  

 

5.7.5 Support has also been offered to frontline/ keyworkers who can ring 

Northumberland’s Psychological Wellbeing Coordinator between 9-10am 

Tuesday/Wed/Thurs/Friday mornings  

 

 

Page 25



 

16 

 

 

5.7.6   There are also numerous corporate wide opportunities accessible to social care 

staff and staff are encouraged to partake. These include amongst others; online fitness 

classes apps. Staff mental wellbeing network. Choir. A monthly calm space which provides 

tips for mental wellbeing. 

 

 

5.7.7   There is access to occupational health for staff to engage with as required. 

Managers are being encouraged to recommend and refer to occupational health 

proactively for staff who are in work, to prevent sickness rates increasing with 

resulting absenteeism.  

 

      

  

5.7.8    The social work force demographic is also considered, and staff are encouraged 

to attend relevant staff network meetings including LGBTQ, Autistic Spectrum 

Disorder staff network, Race Equality Network and Menopause and Andropause 

staff network.  

 

 

5.8 Continuing Professional Development (CPD) 

 

5.8.1      Social Work England (SWE) is the registering body for over 100,000 social workers 

in England. Social Worker is a protected title, and it is against the law to practice 

as or take up a post of a social worker without being registered with SWE. The 

regulator has a set of practice standards and code of conduct by which registered 

social workers must adhere to. Social workers renew registration on an annual 

basis. CPD is a prerequisite for renewal of social worker registration. As Principal 

Social Worker I monitor and support social workers to meet the requirements of 

registration. As registration/reregistration is fundamental in order to be permitted 

to practice as a social worker I lead on ensuring each worker – whether in work 

(or on leave) is registered as required. 

 

 

 5.8.2    In order to maintain and develop our workforce, Northumberland, in line with our 

learning culture ethos, continues to offer comprehensive and fully funded training 

and CPD opportunities virtually and/or in person.    

 

 

5.8.3  We review our training/learning plan on an annual basis during consultation with 

frontline practitioners/managers to understand what actually impacts/nurtures 

practice and more importantly what creates positive outcomes for children and 

families. National themes are also considered to inform our offer. We also offer 

competitive salaries and graded career structures.  

Page 26



 

17 

 

 

5.8.4   The advanced practitioner has been effective in terms of addressing pressure points 

in the service, whilst offering a career pathway for those experienced staff who 

want to remain in practice and not move into management positions.  

 

5.8.5   The implementation of the staff development structure recognised and encouraged 

staff to develop expertise in specific areas of practice, acknowledging this with an 

advanced practitioner status. Further development of this role would ensure 

Northumberland has ‘champions’ in their given service area interest/passion, 

resulting in CPD via regular research and dissemination of knowledge to staff 

across children’s. However, the current pressure on capacity has meant most 

advanced practitioners are burdened by additional caseload/complexity.   

    

5.8.7    Quality assurance has continually developed. Practice days are held to fully 

understand the worker experience. We continue to include all levels of staff and 

the use of peer audit to ensure everyone understands their role as a leader, taking 

responsibility for their own practice and supporting others too, in line with our 

Leadership Pledge around accountability, offering high support and constructive 

challenge.  

 

5.8.8  Improvement in practice standards continues by building upon initiatives around: 

   

● Retention/restructure 

● Continued CPD and learning offer 

● Workforce strategy 

● Regional workforce links    

  

5.9 Practice and issues which impact social workers 

 

5.9.1     Practice development and improvement is one of the key functions of the Principal 

Social Worker; offering high support and high challenge in order to continually 

develop staff.  

  

5.9.2    The leadership team have worked on a continuous improvement plan following 

self-assessment in April 2022. Participation by senior representatives from social 

care, early help, performance team, health and education, assists in providing a 

comprehensive audit programme which measures the impact of the 

improvements. A range of themed and standard audits are completed, and the 

process has been continuously refined and adapted to explore different areas of 

practice. The comments below are from Ofsted during a focussed visit in July 2022  

 

              The senior leadership team provides strong and effective oversight when children need 

to achieve permanence. An established quality assurance framework assists senior 

leaders and managers in monitoring the progression of children’s plans and the quality of 

Page 27



 

18 

 

social work practice. There are robust tracking systems and panels in place to review 

children’s progress. Senior leaders support managers and social workers to make timely 

and effective decisions about children’s futures.  

 

 

5.9.3     The audits have identified some key areas for further improvement, and these are 

fed back to the work force and related training put in place. The next task within 

the audit plan is to track the direction of travel in specific areas to monitor progress. 

Impact on practice and outcomes for children and families continues to be a key 

theme moving forward.  

 

5.9.4    There is access for all social workers/social care staff to a web-based children’s 

social care research site. (Community Care Inform) In collaboration with the 12 

Local Authorities regionally, the same research tool has been commissioned.  It is 

envisaged this will/has assisted in consistency and standardisation of practice and 

resourceful whilst considering financial prudence. I utilise this resource to develop 

specific training workshops/sessions I facilitate to staff.  

 

              The Ofsted focused visit in July 2022 cited ‘Social workers describe feeling valued by their 

managers. They appreciate the learning and service development opportunities provided 

by senior leaders’. 

 

 

5.9.5     It is crucial to provide a common set of principles and a practice framework within 

which social workers can practice with confidence. Signs of Safety (SofS) which 

is a recognised model of social work intervention continues to be used as the 

practice model of choice in Northumberland. Training has been refreshed and the 

recording system has been adapted to reflect SofS requirements, thus providing 

social workers more time to build relationships and less on the demands of 

recording in duplication.  

 

5.9.6  2021/22 saw regular attendance by a SofS consultant and practice champions 

identified and appointed from across all areas of social care practice. There were 

4 workstreams chaired by senior management to ensure strategy aligned with 

operational practice. These consisted of: 

      

• Learning and Development 

• Systems  

• Quality Assurance (co-chaired by me and the quality assurance manager) 

• Comms and Partnership  

 

 

 

Page 28



 

19 

 

5.9.7  Following a review, next steps are focussing on the practice champions being 

sourced from team manager level to support quality assurance practices. Effective 

communication is key to ensuring consistency of message to all areas, especially here in 

Northumberland where staff are dispersed over a large geographical area. SofS 

discussions are set as a regular agenda item during team meetings.   

 

5.9.8     The benefits of this approach are being seen. A focus now is to build upon 

practice not only being measurable but meaningful. Please see the 5 Meaningful 

Measures;  

 

 
 

5.9.9     Participation and attendance at training via the ‘learning offer’ provided to social 

workers is being developed further to ensure this is resource effective and has the 

desired effect of continually improving practice. 

 

5.9.10   For training where places are numbered, specific social workers are identified to 

attend and then encouraged to disseminate the learning to their team/s on their 

return. This is a development opportunity for attendees who improve skills in 

identifying key points from the training and presenting/sharing their learning.  

Every opportunity is utilised to instil confidence and accountability in our staff.  

 

5.9.11   We recognise multi-agency partnership working as fundamental to meet the needs 

of our most vulnerable residents and encourage effective relationship 

building/networking. After all, safeguarding children is everyone’s responsibility. 

Incidentally a positive of Covid is effective use of remote working which has 

resulted in additional attendance of partner agencies at care team meetings.  

 

5.9.12  We also recognise the importance of developing role models for new and current  

staff therefore prioritise staff development via the practice educator role, the 

practice supervisor role and the mentor role mentioned above. 

 

5.9.13   Evaluation of impact for children and families is and remains a priority. We have 

further developed a feedback strategy in order to ensure the voice of children and 

Page 29



 

20 

 

families is heard and considered in all elements of practice. Feedback is collated 

via numerous routes including direct interaction with children and families by 

auditors, feedback questionnaires, the use of Mind of My Own and via the 

complaints process. All of the information collated is utilised to continually develop 

practice.  

 

5.9.14 As part of Northumberland Policies and Procedures Group, I supported 

triangulation of information and expectations of multi-agency partners in the best 

interests of children and families  

 

5.9.15  I am a domestic abuse champion and regularly prompt, promote campaigns, for 

example - the white ribbon campaign.  

 

    

 

5.10 Raising the profile of social work nationally and regionally 
 

5.10.1   I have continued attendance at national and regional meetings as the chair of the 

regional PSW network.  

             I have contributed to and maintained a Northumberland Children’s presence in 

national practice developments, including regular consultations with the DfE 

regarding the Care Review. I have also maintained virtual contact with the Chief 

Social Worker for England.  

             I have represented the NE PSW Network during a session with Community Care 

Inform and Lemn Sissey. 

             I have organised and facilitated regional PSW wellbeing sessions for social care 

staff specifically around hints and tips to support productivity.  

  

 

5.11 Priorities for 2023 
 

• As part of the workforce steering group, I will proactively support ongoing 

development as required, including relevant priorities within the continuous 

improvement plan. 

 

• I will continue to support retention of social workers and support staff in the 

best interests of our children and families. To remain competitive, we will 

support a balanced approach to flexible working arrangements, whilst 

ensuring staff build effective, relational practice by utilising a hybrid approach 

of in person and remote engagement with children, families, colleagues and 

networks. 

 

Page 30



 

21 

 

• Staff will be supported to effectively utilise Northumberland’s vast array of 

wellbeing initiatives to address vicarious trauma often associated with 

children’s social work.   

 

• As lead for recruitment of the ASYE Academy from Cohort 1 in 2018 to the 

present, I will continue to creatively support our ‘grow our own model’ of 

recruitment. 

 

• Whilst Ofsted has recognised the significant progress made, we are keen to 

continuously develop ourselves and our practitioners to address areas 

identified during visits and from our Self-Assessment.  

 

• We continue to focus on the quality of all child/ren’s plans by the Signs of 

Safety Model.  We actively encourage staff to work ‘with families’ in the best 

interests of their children as opposed ‘doing to families’ as families and 

networks are the experts of their lives.     

 

• The quality of analysis and more importantly ‘impact on children’ is an area 

of continual development. Ofsted’s July 2022 visit cited ‘An established 

quality assurance framework assists senior leaders and managers in 

monitoring the progression of children’s plans and the quality of social work 

practice’. 

 

• We will continue implementing the Leadership Pledge across all levels of 

staffing to support all staff to recognise themselves as leaders, ensuring 

hierarchy is not a barrier to positive communication in the best interests of 

children. 

 

• Continue to adapt and learn from the quality assurance programme, 

(audits/practice days/themes from complaints/) - to ensure all auditors 

prioritise service user feedback. 

 

• Consider and identify CPD for social workers in line with key national themes 

and local requirements. For example - Contextual Safeguarding role out to 

ensure all social work staff complete this to support their practice.  

 

• Remain engaged with regional and national social care initiatives to support 

and influence practice in Northumberland. 

 

• Continue to support awareness raising around Corporate Parenting 

responsibilities.  

 

Page 31



 

22 

 

• Continue to build upon and deliver the pledge cited within the Living and 

Learning section of Northumberland’s Corporate Plan 21-24 - ‘We are also 

committed, through Children’s Services to providing sustainable support to 

children and families into the future, innovating new ways of working and 

focusing on early intervention backed up by adequate investment’. 

 

 

 

 

 

6. IMPLICATIONS ARISING OUT OF THE REPORT 

 

Policy: Policies are aligned with statutory requirements 
and case law. Policies and procedures 
pertaining to safeguarding children are held 
within Tri.x and considered to inform this report. 

Finance and value for money: Training costs are covered within the current 
training budget.  

Legal: Performance within the childcare legal cases, 
care planning and permanence for children as 
highlighted within the Children’s Services 
improvement plan.  

Procurement: Regional research tool - Community Care 
Inform won the tender. 

Human Resources: Staffing, training and development implications.   

Property: None. 

Equalities: 

(Impact Assessment attached) 

All procedures and policy changes will take 
account of impact and equalities for all groups. 

Ye
s  

 N
o 

x N/
A 

  

 

Risk Assessment: Risks for Ofsted inspection if improvements and 
activities not implemented.  

Crime & Disorder: None. 

Customer Considerations: Positive outcomes for children and families are 
realised if staff are well trained, supported and 
motivated. 

Page 32



 

23 

 

Carbon Reduction: N/A 

Health and Wellbeing  Corporate health and wellbeing strategies are 
considered. Staff are encouraged/directed to 
source this invaluable support 
alongside supervision and training as required, to 
strengthen the service provided to children and 
families.  

Wards: N/A 

 

Report Sign Off 

 

 Full Name of Officer 

Interim Director of Law and Governance and 
Monitoring Officer 

Suki Binjal 

Executive Director of Resources and 
Transformation (S151 Officer) 

Jan Willis 

Executive Director of Children, Young People 
and Education 

Audrey Kingham 

Chief Executive Helen Paterson 

Portfolio Holder(s) Guy Renner-Thompson 

 

 

Report Author:  Su Kaur, Principal Social Worker - Children and Families  

07966 325497; su.kaur@northumberland.gov.uk  

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 

 

BRIEFING NOTE: 

 

Report Title: Home to School Transport Review Briefing. 

Report of: Audrey Kingham. 

                      Executive Director of Children, Young People and Education & DCS. 

Report by: Neil Dorward. 

Senior Manager - Education Development & Collaborative Projects. 

 

 

Purpose of Report: 

 

To communicate to Executive and Senior Leadership Team the recommendations emerging 

from the home to school transport review and the progress to date in commencing initiatives 

in response to the recommendations. 

 

 

Key Issues 

 

1. Home to School Transport delivered by Northumberland County Council has 

experienced many challenges throughout and beyond the pandemic, one aspect of 

this being the budget for SEN transport being significantly underestimated, a system 

wide review of home to school transport was requested in response. 

 

2. From the review of home to school transport a range of 36 recommendations for 

service improvement were proposed. 

 

3. 30 of the 36 recommendations are actively being implemented, the remainder being 

contingent upon other factors and/or timing, with plans in place. 

 

4. Recommendations on Independent Travel Training, Devolved Transport Budgets and 

Enhanced Personal Budgets are being supported via BEST Value for Money 

workstream. 

 

5. Recommendations in delivery aim to improve home to school transport via different 

ways of working, structural options are subject to further consideration as part of the 

wider structural review. 

 

6. A full summary of the resulting recommendations is provided in the appended full 

Home to School Transport review report (Appendix 01) and a summary of progress in 

response to the home to school transport review recommendations is set out in the 

background section of this report. 

 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 

2 

 

 

To note: a recommendation in the Home to School Transport review report (Appendix 01) is 

the consideration of 4 options for Service Integration and Business Models moving forward. 

Developments in this area are being considered independently as part of the wider structural 

review within Northumberland County Council. The potential for a minority of 

recommendations to be progressed is contingent upon the outcome of this structural review. 

 
 

 
Background 

 

Recommendations resulting from Home to School Transport Review, aligned to ToR 

priority areas. 

 

Terms of Reference Review Phase 01 – Policy Recommendations: 

 

 Recommendation Status 

1 Policy development Work in progress, initial policy release May 23 

2 Annual service user consultation Developed, benchmark consultation complete 

3 Policy refresh Work in progress, initial policy release May 23 

4 SEND representation in all Policy Work in progress 

5 
Independent Travel Training (ITT) 
written into policy 

Deferred until ITT function established, which 
is work in progress (pt 9) 

6 CSC transport policy 
Working group creation instigated, policy will 
follow 

7 CSC transport working group Formative discussion instigated 

8 ASC transport policy Work in progress 

9 Enhanced Personal Budgets Work in progress (BEST VFM workstream) 

10 Transport terminology/expectation Work in progress 

11 NEET representation in policy Formative discussion instigated 

12 Post 16 policy SEND representation Complete, published 

13 Sustainability within policy Developed in draft, to be published May 2023 

14 Devolved transport budget Work in progress (BEST VFM workstream) 

 

 

 

 

 
 Page 36



 

3 

 

Terms of Reference Review Phase 02 – Safeguarding & Appeals Recommendations: 

 

 Recommendation Status 

1 
Safeguarding spot check framework 
development/collaboration 

Not yet commenced 

2 
School safeguarding team 
supplementary vehicle spot checks 

Piloted, to be rolled out formally 

3 Transport management systems 
Business case is WIP for enhanced Capita 
one EMS modules – currently testing the 
effectiveness of this proposed option 

4 
Mandate subscription to DBS 
Update Service 

Complete 

5 
Confidential, real-time pupil 
whistleblowing  

Contingent upon TMS (pt 3) 

 

 

Terms of Reference Review Phase 03 – Adult & Children’s Social Care Transport 

Recommendations: 

 

 Recommendation Status 

1 
CSC/SEND responsibility 
boundaries clear in policy 

Working group creation instigated, policy will 
follow 

2 CSC transport working group Working group creation instigated 

3 TMS efficiencies Exploring Capita One modules 

4 
General day-to-day transport 
efficiency measures 

Work in progress 

 

 

Terms of Reference Review Phase 04 – Resources Recommendations: 

 

 Recommendation Status 

1 
Service Integration and Business 
Models 

Work in progress (Structural review) 

2 Transport staff resource levels Considered lean, to be maintained 

3 CSC transport working group Working group creation instigated 

4 TMS market wide feasibility study Capita One expansion being explored initially 

5 
School safeguarding team 
supplementary vehicle spot checks 

Not yet commenced 

6 
Integrate school transport & school 
admissions processes 

Contingent upon wider structural 
considerations 

7 Independent Travel Training 
Work in progress (BEST VFM workstream) 
Business case submitted for start-up funding. 

8 
Post 16 transport eligibility support 
with complex cases 

Soft launch owing to organisational change in 
Northumberland Skills 

9 
NIES support of complex SEND 
transport eligibility 

Contingent upon wider structural 
considerations 

10 Carbon impact monitoring/reduction Work in progress 

 
Page 37



 

4 

 

 

Terms of Reference Review Phase 05 – Service Integration, Business Models and 

Systems Recommendations: 

 

 Recommendation Status 

1 Service Integration and Business 
Models (Home to School Transport) 

Work in progress (Structural review) 

2 TMS market wide feasibility study Capita One expansion being explored initially 

3 Service Integration and Business 
Models (Strategic transport - Regen) 

Work in progress (Structural review) 

 

 
 
 

 
Background Documents 
 

Appendix 01 – Strategic Recommendations - Rev 11.0.pdf 

 

  

Appendix 01 - 

Strategic Recommendations - Rev 11.0.pdf
 

 

 
Author and Contact Details 
 
Neil Dorward 

Senior Manager - Education Development & Collaborative Projects 

Mob: 07811 020 806 

email: neil.dorward@northumberland.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 38

mailto:neil.dorward@northumberland.gov.uk


 

1 
 

 

Home to School Transport Review – Strategic Recommendations 
Report. 
 

 

Context 

School transport within Northumberland County Council has had several challenges throughout the 

pandemic to consider above the usual transport routines. The budget for SEN transport which is held 

by NCC SEND team has been significantly underestimated resulting in the request for a system wide 

review of the governance of school transport. The recommendations developed in response to 

review findings are set out in the following report. 

Underlying detail which supports findings in this report can be found within appendices. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

2 
 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Passenger Transport Team background 2 

2. Executive Summary 4 

3. Findings & Recommendations. 5 

3.1. Terms of Reference Review Phase 01 – Policy. 5 

3.2. Terms of Reference Review Phase 02 – Safeguarding & Appeals. 12 

3.3. Terms of Reference Review Phase 03 – Adult & Children’s Social Care Transport. 14 

3.4. Terms of Reference Review Phase 04 – Resources. 16 

3.5. Terms of Reference Review Phase 05 – Service Integration, Business Models & Systems 26 

4. Quantitative ‘Value for Money’ Savings & Investments Developed in Collaboration with 
PeopleToo. 40 

5. Annex 01: Methodology 44 

6. Appendices 48 

Appendix 01: Terms of Reference. 48 

Appendix 02: Home to school policy review briefing. 48 

Appendix 03: Post 16 Home to school policy review briefing. 48 

Appendix 04: Appeals process review briefing 48 

Appendix 05: Safeguarding review briefing 48 

Appendix 06: Operational Recommendations 48 

Appendix 07: Resident service user feedback summary reports. 48 

 

 

 

1. Passenger Transport Team background 

 

The Passenger Transport Team comprises 14 staff members and currently operates within Local 

Services managing a diverse range of commissioned transport. The work of the team relates to two 

distinct functions for the Council. One being provision of transport for specific eligible groups on 

behalf of other Council services, such as home to school transport, SEN transport, alternative 

education provision transport, post 16 education transport, children’s social care transport and adult 

social care transport, the other relating to provision of public transport for the general public 

through provision of supported bus services to supplement the commercial bus network. The team 

typically hold a portfolio of circa 200 approved transport suppliers, in the region of 150 suppliers 

being contracted to deliver transport at any one time. The vast majority of passenger journeys are 

Page 40



 

3 
 

for purposes of education with circa 8000 children accessing transport to their place of education on 

a daily basis. From a budgetary perspective transport for purposes other than education is small in 

scale and in some instances ad-hoc by nature, for example within children’s social care. The annual 

revenue expenditure on transport which is managed by the team is in the region of £18m of which 

circa 90% is directly related to transport for education purposes. It is worth noting that whilst travel 

for pupils with special educational needs accounts for under 20% of education transport it 

contributes to over 40% of education transport cost owing to the complex geography of journeys 

and unique individual needs. The average cost per pupil on mainstream transport being circa £1500 

compared to over £5000 on average for SEN transport. It should be acknowledged that from both a 

budgetary and staffing resource perspective, transport other than that arranged for purely 

education purposes constitutes a significant and growing amount of the teams' workload including 

public transport network planning and development, procurement and contract management 

activity, supplier payments for providers of supported bus services as well as performing the co-

ordination role of ensuring up to date timetable information. It is anticipated that workload in this 

area will increase further due to the transformative changes being implemented in bus passenger 

travel arrangements from April 2023. It is worth noting the overlap between local public transport 

services and mainstream home to school transport where many pupils travel to school on 

commercial and supported bus services, some commercial bus services are only viable because of 

home to school transport income streams. Decisions on funding home to school transport seats on a 

commercial bus service, commissioning a public bus service that includes a school journey or 

commissioning a closed-door school bus service need to be made taking the wider perspective to get 

the best value for all service users including the needs of non-entitled children using public 

transport. The passenger transport team are highly experienced in the delivery of this diverse range 

of transport and should be commended for the scale and complexity of the service they consistently 

deliver. Whilst there is no formal service user consultation mechanism in place currently, as an 

indirect measure of satisfaction of user groups, the level of complaints has been seen to fall year on 

year in response to the continuous improvements the team have been introducing incrementally as 

resources have allowed. During previous independent review the skills, knowledge and dedication of 

the team have been highlighted as a strength. Whilst the team has and continues to perform well 

with continued dedication in reliably delivering a significant volume and variation of commissioned 

transport, particularly during the challenges of the Covid 19 pandemic, the review has identified 

scope for further improvements to policy, process and systems that have potential to deliver 

financial, operational, safeguarding and user experience benefits. This scope including greater 

contribution from interrelated service areas that have potential to support pressure points within 

Page 41



 

4 
 

the work of the team, freeing capacity of team members to focus on complex cases as well as 

reducing the pressures upon the passenger transport team which are evident at peak times. It is 

important to acknowledge the national issue facing school transport provision where the availability 

of transport operators and drivers is under increasing pressure and already beginning to erode 

reliability of home to school transport nationally. 

 

 

2. Executive Summary 

 

It is clear from review of the home to school transport system that the team involved are heavily 

committed to delivering a quality service to transport users and exhibit a significant level of 

knowledge and skills. The team work closely, their efforts regularly go above and beyond 

expectation and what they deliver collectively as a team is greater than the sum of its parts. 

There has been continuous improvement of the service, but notwithstanding this, some systems and 

processes could be described as outdated, insufficiently joined up and resource hungry to operate 

which combined with the scale of the significant logistical operation, creates a service which is 

challenging to manage - particularly at peak times in the annual cycle. This has been seen to place 

pressure on staff at these times resulting in some officers working long hours and under pressure to 

compensate and to strive for continuity and quality. In some instances, the tools available to the 

team can result in a reactive approach to managing some aspects of the system. Operating in a way 

that relies so heavily on individuals steering the system also introduces continuity risk. 

While systems and processes have been and continue to be subject to continuous improvement, 

such as more digitised processes for transport applications, investment in more disruptive process 

developments, including current transport management technologies, has potential to deliver more 

efficient ways of working. This would in turn allow officers to focus on greater levels of joined up 

working across interrelated functions and allowing greater concentration upon the more complex 

service user cases where team skills and experience could be best utilised in delivering a more 

customer-centred approach, aided by reduced administrative burden. 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



 

5 
 

 

 

3.  Findings & Recommendations. 

 

Note: a full range of operational recommendations is also included at Appendix 06. 

 

3.1. Terms of Reference Review Phase 01 – Policy. 

 

Terms of Reference can be found in appendix 01. 

 

Home to School Transport Policy. 

In response to review of Home to School Transport Policy documentation and comparison of policy 

to central government guidance the policy is deemed fit for purpose and compliant with only minor 

updates required for structure and clarity which are not material to the policy. The passenger 

transport team regularly use the policy to inform decision making and to ensure operational 

compliance. Going forward however it is recommended that Children’s Services lead policy 

development with the support of the passenger transport team where most recently the drafting of 

policy was conducted by the passenger transport team with Children’s Services approval. A range of 

housekeeping, clarity and format recommendations have been proposed however, these can be 

found in appendix 02. 

In response to semi structured interviews with comparable local authority areas NCC should 

consider a change in policy adopted by some local authorities who have realised savings by applying 

personal budget proportionate to the cost of commissioned transport arrangements, rather than by 

mileage rate, in some circumstances. This arrangement is put in place where criteria are met under 

exceptionally complex and high-cost circumstances, e.g. SEND or pupil redirections. Policy would 

also need to include circumstances where this arrangement may cease if transport arrangements 

returning greater value emerge, for example the emergence of a multiple occupancy vehicle in the 

geographic area where previously there were none. 

During semi-structured interview with transport contracts and compliance manager the implications 

of pupil redirection and displacement emerging from school admissions processes and the resulting 

transport budget impact were explored, this totalling circa £340,000 in 2021-22. Children’s Services 

should consider potential for policy developments with support from the passenger transport team 

to develop policy to control the impact of redirections resulting from admissions related issues 

where possible. 

Page 43



 

6 
 

In response to semi structured interviews with comparable local authority areas NCC should 

consider a change in terminology within policy and supporting documentation. Some local 

authorities have moved away from the term ‘Home to School Transport’ and instead often refer to 

‘Education Transport’ to help shift any pockets of unrealistic expectation that transport will collect 

from the door of the home address and deliver to the school entrance. Continuing this cultural shift 

will contribute to resolving issues with any remaining minority of transport users who are less 

receptive to communal pick-up/drop off points on offer. 

In response to review of Home to School Transport Policy documentation it is proposed that greater 

emphasis is placed upon annual policy update with version control applied to policy documentation, 

Children’s Services should lead policy development with support from the passenger transport team. 

As part of the annual policy review annual service user consultation surveys should be carried out, 

replicating those conducted during the transport review. Consultation yielded valuable insights into 

the satisfaction of service users upon specific elements of transport provision (Appendix 07) and can 

be used to inform policy update. Transport review consultation results should be used as an initial 

benchmark and the outcome of the annual process should include a ‘You said – we did’ briefing for 

service users raising engagement of residents in service developments. 

In response to home to school transport service user consultation surveys (Appendix 07) it is clear 

that both the needs and satisfaction levels between those using mainstream and those using SEND 

transport are different between these community groups. For this reason, it is proposed that policy 

developments prioritise much greater representation of the SEND community, their needs and 

diversity, rather than SEND being briefly covered as is currently the case. More detail upon this 

proposal can be found under SEND Transport Policy below. 

In response to aspirations of some schools it is recommended that consideration of devolving 

transport to budgets to schools or MAT’s is considered based upon confidence to deliver. 

 

 

Post 16 Home to School Transport Policy. 

In response to review of Post 16 Home to School Transport Policy documentation and comparison of 

policy to central government guidance the policy is deemed fit for purpose and compliant with a 

small number of exceptions, the passenger transport team regularly use the policy to inform 

decision making and to ensure operational compliance. Going forward however it is recommended 

that Children’s Services lead policy development with the support of the passenger transport team 

where previously policy was the drafting of policy was conducted by the passenger transport team 

Page 44



 

7 
 

with Children’s Services approval. A range of housekeeping, clarity and format recommendations 

have been proposed, these can be found in appendix 03. 

As part of policy update, central government guidance recommends inclusion in post 16 policy 

details of any specific provision in place for those NEET or at risk of becoming NEET. This is not 

included in current NCC post 16 transport policy and should be included as a priority, this section 

should be co-produced with the passenger transport team and led by Children’s Services careers 

team who monitor and work with NEET young people. 

As part of policy update, central government guidance states that post 16 policy should set out how 

and when authorities propose to consult young people and their parents to inform the development 

of policy for the following year, also that the local authority must consult with stakeholders in 

developing post 16 policy. This approach is not represented in current NCC post 16 transport policy 

and should be included as a priority. Annual post 16 policy updates should be conducted with 

version control applied to policy documentation; Children’s Services should lead annual post 16 

policy developments. As part of the annual policy development annual service user consultation 

surveys should be carried out as recommended in central government guidance, these should 

replicate those conducted during the transport review allowing benchmarking. 

 

SEND Transport Policy. 

 

Home to school transport for children and young people with special educational needs and or 

disabilities is by far the most complex and high-cost element of commissioned transport. 

The community of children and young people who use this service also have the most complex 

needs and challenges of all of the service user groups. 

Despite these significant facts, there is insufficient representation within current policy for the 

transportation of children and young people with special educational needs. 

It is therefore recommended that home to school transport policy includes much greater focus upon 

the needs and diversity of children and young people with special educational needs. This 

development should be led by Children’s Services, supported by the passenger transport team. The 

proposal for a proportionate personal budget should also be made equally available to users of SEND 

transport. Policy sections related specifically to SEND transport users, as recommended for other 

user groups, should be reviewed and updated annually including service user consultation and a ‘You 

said – we did’ briefing for service users raising engagement of residents in service developments. It is 

important that given the differing satisfaction levels of different user groups that consultation is 

Page 45



 

8 
 

specific to individual user groups to allow the needs of each to be clearly represented, not diluted by 

the bigger picture. 

Enhancements to SEND representation within Transport policy as proposed above should also be 

supplemented with policy developments for post 16 SEND transport, specifically with a focus on 

eligibility which previously missed essential considerations such as the mode of assessment of 

academic progress for those post 16 students with SEND which are in some instances very different 

than for mainstream, this oversight risking unnecessary exclusion from transport and hence access 

to education. Inclusion of parameters for timely submission of transport referrals should also be 

agreed and included which has been an ongoing challenge in the area of SEND transport. 

Policy developments should also set out clearly how the SEND team holding budget but transport 

team arranging the commissioning should work in practice with the objective of the SEND team 

having increased focus upon the operational and financial impacts of their application and eligibility 

work. Enhanced focus in this area also has potential to enhance passenger transport team 

understanding of the challenges of the SEND Team in return which is in concordance with the overall 

objective of closer working practices. 

 The enhancements to SEND representation within Transport policy as proposed should set out an 

approach to introduce consistent and sufficient independent travel training provision with greater 

contribution from both schools and NCC. This function was previously delivered by Children’s 

Services but was ceased, the passenger transport team, SEN team and external consultants all 

having shown support for its reintroduction. Independent travel training is of enormous benefit to 

young people with SEND attempting to develop independence and supports a reduction in the 

quantity and complexity of SEND transport, yet this provision is lacking in Northumberland. Many 

local authorities have an established team of independent travel training staff, given the long and 

often single occupant travel pattern of SEND pupils it does not take the realisation of many 

independent travellers to financially justify an independent travel trainer role. Independent travel 

trainers would sit well within Children’s Services directorate under the Preparation for Adulthood 

lead; this function would also align very well with the NCC SEND Strategy and national Preparation 

for Adulthood outcomes. It is proposed that two independent travel trainer roles are introduced 

initially, each taking a caseload of 12-15 young people at any one time. The role would also include 

working with schools and providers to increase the provision of independent travel training within 

education settings, widening the reach and further raising participation in independent travel 

training over time. Given the average annual transport cost for a young person with SEND it is 

anticipated that the cost of creating an independent travel training role would be more than 

Page 46



 

9 
 

compensated by the savings in transport costs delivered by moving young people from 

commissioned transport to independent modes of transport. 

Children’s Services should lead policy developments supported by the passenger transport team. As 

part of annual policy review annual service user consultation surveys should be carried out, 

replicating those conducted during the transport review. Consultation yielded valuable insights into 

the satisfaction of service users upon specific elements of transport provision (Appendix 07), this 

was especially the case for the SEND transport user community and can be used to inform policy 

update. Transport review consultation results should be used as an initial benchmark and the 

outcome of the annual process should include a ‘You said – we did’ briefing for service users raising 

engagement of residents in service developments. 

In response to aspirations of some schools it is recommended that consideration of devolving 

transport to budgets to special schools and alternative provision is considered based upon 

confidence to deliver. 

 

Children’s Social Care Transport Policy. 

 

Transport for Children’s Social Care differs from school transport being less consistent and more ad-

hoc in many cases with service users having different needs and challenges to regular school 

transport users. It is recognised that the passenger transport team have made much progress in 

recent years with gaining visibility and control over the way transport is commissioned by Children’s 

Social Care where previously commissioning was less controlled. Despite the different needs and 

service developments with this user group there is currently no standalone policy for Children’s 

Social Care transport. 

It is therefore recommended that a standalone transport policy for children’s social care is 

developed, led by Children’s Services and supported by the passenger transport team. This policy, as 

recommended for other policy, should be reviewed, and updated annually. 

Policy should set out how the more reactive children’s social care transport arrangements should be 

managed and should provide direction on how boundaries between children’s social care and SEND 

team responsibilities are managed given the regular involvement of both teams. Policy should also 

set out clear boundaries between SEND Transport responsibilities and budget and CSC 

responsibilities and budget where there have been unclear boundaries to date. Inclusion of 

parameters for timely submission of transport referrals should also be agreed and included which 

has been an ongoing challenge in the arrangement of children’s social care transport. It is also 

Page 47



 

10 
 

recommended that an ongoing working group between Children’s Social Care senior and operational 

officers and the Passenger Transport team be arranged, modelled upon that seen with Adult Social 

Care, and should have terms of reference in place to ensure that the new policy is implemented 

effectively in practice and to allow operational issues to be identified, widely understood and 

collaboratively resolved as well as informing annual policy update. 

When developing policy, the expertise of CSC and SEND teams should be used to account for the 

transient placement arrangements that some care experienced children require without causing 

disadvantage, this to include how cross county boundaries are managed. 

The approach to meeting the needs of more profound physical and mental disability should be set 

out in this policy with clear indication of the range of reasonable adjustments to transport which can 

be expected. 

 

Adults Social Care Transport Policy. 

 

Similar to children’s social care, a separate adult social care transport policy should be developed, 

led by adult social care officers and supported by the passenger transport team – work toward this 

already having commenced. 

Similar to work completed for children’s social care, it is recognised that the passenger transport 

team have made much progress in recent years with gaining visibility and control over the way 

transport is commissioned by adult social care where previously commissioning was less controlled. 

It is also acknowledged that the current working group arrangement between adult social care and 

the passenger transport team is working well, and a similar approach can be applied to children’s 

social care transport management. 

Both adult social care officers and passenger transport team officers are in agreement that the 

developments made in conducting route reviews are impactful and are driving efficiencies in the 

area of adult social care transport. 

 

Sustainability within Policy. 

The section related to resources covers measures being introduced to allow measurement, 

benchmarking, monitoring, and reduction of carbon impacts associated with commissioned 

transport. 

Page 48



 

11 
 

It is recommended that across all refreshed and newly introduced policy that the approach to 

sustainability within transport commissioning and delivery is set out consistently and with respect to 

the measures which are practically available as a result of work being conducted with the 

sustainability team. 

 

3.1 Policy – Key Recommendations: 

1. Children’s Services to lead all policy development for mainstream and post 16 education, SEN 

and children’s social care - supported by the passenger transport team. 

2. Annual service user consultation of specific stakeholder groups including parents, carers and 

education providers including an annual ‘You Said – We Did’ briefing. 

3. Annual policy refresh with respect to guidance emerging over the period and service user 

consultation outcomes. 

4. Greater representation within home to school transport policy for children and young people 

with special educational needs, these policy developments led by Children’s Services, 

supported by the passenger transport team. 

5. Inclusion in policy of an Independent Travel Training function within Children’s Services 

including recruiting to two independent travel training roles. 

6. Standalone transport policy for children’s social care is developed, led by Children’s Services 

and supported by the passenger transport team. 

7. Creation of a Children’s Social Care transport working group modelled on that developed for 

Adult Social Care. 

8. A separate Adult Social Care transport policy should be developed, led by Adult Social Care 

officers, and supported by the passenger transport team. 

9. Personal budget award proportionate to the cost of commissioned transport arrangements, 

rather than by mileage rate, in some circumstances. 

10. Move away from the term ‘Home to School Transport’ to reduce pockets of expectation that 

transport will collect from the door of the home address and deliver to the school entrance. 

11. Post 16 transport policy must include strategies to support and reduce NEET and those at risk 

of NEET, these policy developments led by Children’s Services, supported by the passenger 

transport team. 

12. Post 16 transport policy must include clearer representation for children and young people 

with special educational needs, these policy developments led by Children’s Services, 

supported by the passenger transport team. 

Page 49



 

12 
 

13. Embed transport sustainability strategy consistently within all policy or develop standalone 

transport sustainability policy. 

14.  Pilot a devolved transport budget with mainstream schools, special schools, and alternative 

provision where individual settings will deliver internally or externally commissioned 

transport in line with own operational requirements and within the devolved budget. 

 

 

3.2. Terms of Reference Review Phase 02 – Safeguarding & Appeals. 

 

Safeguarding processes and checks. 

 

During review, semi structured interviews with compliance officers were conducted and 

independent safeguarding spot checks made upon vehicles by the school safeguarding team. 

Currently the passenger transport team have developed and are delivering a programme of 

safeguarding training for drivers and passenger transport assistants as well as undertaking vehicle 

spot checks to establish how effectively safeguarding is implemented in practice. Drivers are subject 

to DBS checks via the passenger transport team or through standard NCC taxi licensing processes. 

DBS checks provide assurance that employees of transport operators are suitable to work with 

children and young people. There is still work to do via the ongoing programme of training to 

provide assurance that all drivers are sufficiently knowledgeable of their role with regard to 

safeguarding. The robustness of safeguarding within spot checks and coverage of spot checks have 

capacity to be improved to provide greater assurance around safeguarding however the passenger 

transport team have now commenced this work. 

Currently, monitoring spot checks made by compliance officers are mainly reactive to issues and 

complaints, this is owing to compliance officer resource (2 officers only) and the challenge that the 

geography of the county presents. 

To enhance the coverage of safeguarding checks upon vehicles it is recommended that the school 

safeguarding team contribute to these checks whilst at school sites, providing enhance coverage of 

safeguarding checks whilst already in attendance at school locations. 

To enhance the robustness of safeguarding checks within the monitoring spot check process it is 

recommended that compliance officers work with school safeguarding officers to further develop 

the inclusion of safeguarding within the spot check framework. A primary objective of this being to 

put in place metrics to measure the impact that driver safeguarding training is having upon driver 

Page 50



 

13 
 

understanding of safeguarding and the actions to take in specific safeguarding scenarios which was 

reported as inconsistent by the school safeguarding officer during independent spot checks. The 

passenger transport team have already commenced work to achieve this objective. 

It is recommended that drivers and passenger transport assistants are mandated to use the DBS 

Update Service, rather than the standard 3-year expiry DBS process. This will reduce the 

administrative burden of monitoring the 3-year expiry as well as reducing the risk of gaps in DBS 

coverage or gaps in transport provision owing to staff clearances. The passenger transport team are 

consulting with operators on this development to understand any implications before enforcing. 

Digitisation of transport management systems could bring the potential which some platforms offer 

to implement drivers completing basic vehicle pre-use checks and a declaration of having done so to 

provide a further layer of assurance on day-to-day vehicle safety. 

Digitisation of transport management systems could also bring potential for real time vehicle 

mapping and parental access which can indicate more rapidly and to all parties when a child is late, a 

child is not present at collection, a vehicle is late, and the location of a child at any time within the 

journey – this visibility is not currently available. This technology is available through comprehensive 

TMS systems as well as more basic app-based systems which operate exclusively from mobile 

phones giving potential for a range of options that can be explored during feasibility study and also 

potential for shorter and longer terms options to enhance journey visibility. The feasibility study will 

need to carefully consider GDPR management and cost benefit of systems given the need to 

implement technology across the wide range of operators. 

Digitising transport management systems also provides enhanced opportunity for streamlining 

compliance monitoring of driver credentials and vehicle status with TMS packages offering 

compliance functions within their end-to-end functionality. 

As a channel for children and young people to raise concerns confidentially a real-time confidential 

channel for children & young people to report concerns should be considered. Proprietary mobile 

applications are available and are used in education settings to allow disclosure of concerns directly 

to the place of learning or service provider when children may be unable to do so face-to-face, may 

not be confident enough to approach an adult, or may want to speak-up but are at home, in public, 

on school transport or cannot access the right member of staff. This may be an option to specify 

within some transport management systems too. 

A separate briefing on Safeguarding can be found in appendix 05. 

 

Page 51



 

14 
 

Appeals process and compliance with regulation. 

 

As part of review of the appeals procedure comparison was made between DfE home to school 

travel and transport statutory guidance and NCC home to school transport policy terms outlining the 

appeals process, NCC policy is deemed fit for purpose and compliant however a range of 

housekeeping, clarity and format recommendations have been proposed, these can be found in 

appendix 04. 

It is recommended that the appeals procedure will be updated annually as part of the broader home 

to school transport policy updates accounting for lessons learnt over the period specifically around 

any issues emerging from appeal activity. 

 

3.2 Safeguarding & Appeals – Key Recommendations: 

1. Compliance officers to work with school safeguarding officers to further develop the 

inclusion of safeguarding within the existing spot check framework. 

2. School safeguarding team contribute to compliance spot checks whilst at school sites. 

3. As part of feasibility study into more advanced transport management systems consider 

potential for real time vehicle mapping and parental/stakeholder access to pupil journey 

information in real-time. 

4. Mandate subscription to DBS Update Service for drivers and escorts, rather than the 

standard 3-year expiry DBS process. 

5. Adopt a proprietary real-time confidential channel for children & young people to report 

concerns directly to the place of learning or service provider. 

 

 

3.3. Terms of Reference Review Phase 03 – Adult & Children’s Social Care Transport. 

 

During review of efficiency and value for money delivered by adult and children’s social care semi 

structured interviews were conducted with the respective teams in ASC and CSC as well as covering 

this topic within interviews with transport officers and in review of documentation, systems and 

processes. 

The volume of ASC and CSC transport provision is small in comparison to home to school transport 

however Children’s Social Care is significantly more ad-hoc and less structured with regular 

individual journeys rather than multiple vehicle occupancy making efficiencies difficult to realise. 

Page 52



 

15 
 

Children’s Social Care officers explain scenarios where individual journeys are made with 

opportunity missed to combine passengers whilst the passenger transport team report too many 

instances of referral information being supplied too late and incomplete, this supports the need for 

closer working and better communication to reduce such challenges, potentially modelled on the 

working group approach already taken between adult social care officers and the passenger 

transport team. 

Social care providers, patients and families can also be challenging to communicate with around 

temporary amendments and cancellations which can be informal, not timely, and leading to 

inefficiencies. Informal changes and cancellations are difficult to track which results in transport logs 

and invoicing not always aligning, adding to the administrative burden of the transport team 

managing these transport contracts and potential for loss of value for money. 

The work that the passenger transport team have already undertaken in recent years in gaining 

visibility and control over the way social care transport is commissioned will be continued 

considering further efficiencies. However, the proposed feasibility study should consider how 

proprietary transport management systems with the ability to analyse route demand data have 

potential to accelerate developments into more efficient route planning and route combining and 

potential for vehicle tracking functions to allow comparison of actual journey made against invoice 

to help informal changes and cancellations to be captured. 

During interview with EHCP officers and children’s social care officers blurred boundaries became 

apparent when a child is known to both children’s social care and SEND team and has transport 

needs with respect to both. As set out in the policy section above, establishing specific children’s 

social care transport policy and SEND transport policy, led by Children’s Services, supported by the 

passenger transport team, should set clear boundaries around responsibility and budget for children 

known to both children’s social care and SEND team to remove ambiguity in this regard and more 

certainty in budget management. 

 

3.3 Adult & Children’s Social Care Transport – Key Recommendations: 

1. Define clear boundaries around responsibility and budget for children known to both 

children’s social care and SEND teams during development of specific CSC policy and SEND 

Transport policy. 

2. Commence a formal Children’s Social Care transport working group modelled upon that in 

place for Adult Social Care transport. 

Page 53



 

16 
 

3. As part of feasibility study into longer term plans for more advanced transport management 

systems focus upon solutions which realise efficiencies and visibility within ad-hoc and 

fluctuating transport arrangements seen within CSC. 

4. Continue to develop understanding of transport usage and opportunities for further 

efficiencies in the short term. 

 

 

3.4. Terms of Reference Review Phase 04 – Resources. 

 

Staffing. 

 

The passenger transport team comprises fourteen staff in total: 

 

• 1x Band 10 - Passenger Transport Manager 

• 1x Band 8 - Transport Contracts and Compliance Manager 

• 1x Band 6 – Senior Transport Network Officer 

• 2x Band 6 - Monitoring, Compliance & Enforcement Officers 

• 6x Band 5 – Transport Network Officer 

• 2x Band 4 – Senior Support Assistant 

• 1x Band 3 – Admin Assistant 

 

The revenue expenditure of the transport service being circa £18m per annum therefore represents 

delivery of £1.3m per team member. This indicates high levels of efficiency in this service area in 

comparison to averages across all local authority activity in England and with other local authority 

transport teams. In this regard it is concluded that in staffing terms the transport team is lean, and 

this would go some way to explain the pressures that the team face at peak times in the application 

cycle which result in long working hours and measures taken such as preventing annual leave for 

team members through August into September. 

Whilst not recommending increasing staff levels to reduce the pressures faced at peak times, as part 

of the exploration of current transport management systems and shorter-term developments it 

should be one of the primary aims to reduce the burden of those tasks which contribute to pressures 

felt by the team within the application period via the uptake of enhanced systems and automation 

of some administrative process. 

Page 54



 

17 
 

It is also recommended that in the area of safeguarding and school admissions that resource from 

Children’s Services is well placed to contribute to reducing pressures, making systems more efficient 

by combining processes and to enhancing the reach of some functions. 

Whilst not directly related to the Passenger Transport Team, the proposal to introduce consistent 

and sufficient independent travel training provision with greater contribution from both schools and 

NCC would initially require the appointment of one or more Independent Travel Trainer roles within 

NCC. These would sit within the Preparation for Adulthood function of Children’s services. 

 

 

Eligibility assessment/award and demand. 

 

During review of eligibility assessment and award resource, information was gathered from semi 

structured interviews with transport network officers, transport manager, supporting 

documentation and by directly accessing the application admin systems, access being arranged by 

the transport team. Semi structured interviews were also conducted with teams from children’s 

social care, adult social care, and SEND team. 

Applications for home to school transport are made via application administration systems which are 

specific to transport type (i.e SEND pre/post 16, mainstream, Post 16) allowing the application 

system to comply with the respective policy and user group needs. These systems have been subject 

to ongoing developments which have moved them to an online process from the previous paper 

form and email-based process making the application process less demanding for transport network 

officers during the initial contact of parent/carer applicants. The application admin system produces 

automated email communication during the application phase which also reduces administrative 

burden upon transport network officers. 

Despite the positive move to streamline the initial application phase by moving to online systems, 

the fact that eligibility is then assessed by transport network officers still provides a bottleneck in the 

annual transport cycle, applications for pre 16 and post 16 transport predominantly being received 

in the period May to August. This puts pressure upon the team during this time in the year resulting 

in longer working hours and restrictions upon the taking of annual leave in this period as all 

attention is focused upon eligibility assessment and route planning. 

Post 16 vocational transport, whilst small in volume, is complex to assess for eligibility; this being 

particularly complex with vocational education where course type is complex, timetables can be 

inconsistent day-to-day and subject to change, meaning route planning can be challenging and 

Page 55



 

18 
 

results in efficiencies owing to the scattergun of post 16 attendance needs by comparison to very 

consistent school attendance needs. It should be noted that for this reason many local authorities 

charge users for post 16 travel with adjustment applied on grounds of low income or for those with 

SEND. 

It is recommended that children’s services, where greater levels of post 16 vocational education 

experience can be accessed, contribute more formally to supporting transport network officers with 

eligibility assessment in this area, contributing to relieving pressures during the peak application 

period. 

Pre 16 mainstream transport is straightforward by comparison however the challenge in this area is 

the volume of applications being received in the peak period, circa 1600 in 2021-22 academic year, 

and at the same time as post 16 applications. 

During exploration of the impact of digitised transport management systems focus should be applied 

to identifying systems which have potential to fully automate the majority of straightforward 

applications which it is expected could reduce eligibility assessment burden by a significant margin 

allowing transport network officers to focus upon a more user centric approach to more complex 

cases of redirections, SEND transport provision, post 16 applications and EOTAS transport provision 

in turn raising user satisfaction ratings in more complex client groups. User consultation indicates 

lower satisfaction levels with the application process, particularly including challenges in self-

assessing eligibility before applying, further developing the process also brings opportunity to 

increase satisfaction levels in this area. 

Differing in process from mainstream transport, SEND transport entitlement is assessed and 

awarded by EHCP officers, transport network officers subsequently deciding the mode of transport 

and then commissioning. In respect of this EHCP officers are best placed to make this assessment 

based upon individual needs and the most complex eligibility decisions are prevented from adding to 

the workload of transport network officers, the process therefore being appropriate for putting 

these arrangements in place. 

It is recommended to include in policy related to SEND transport the roles that schools, special 

schools, Northumberland Inclusive Education Service and transport network officers should play in 

contributing to awarding and planning transport. This will more formally set out how NCC officers 

and Schools’ knowledge of individuals, their peers and their settled cohorts is utilised to contribute 

to increasing instances of multiple occupancy journey planning, building on and supporting with the 

work of the passenger transport team in this area. 

Page 56



 

19 
 

Like the model for SEND transport, for both children’s and adults social care transport social care 

officers assess need for transport then refer outcomes to transport network officers for 

commissioning ensuring the complex eligibility assessment demands are carried out prior to referral 

to transport officers which is appropriate for this user group. 

During exploration of the impact of end-to-end transport management systems it should be 

considered how enhanced systems can identify route efficiencies particularly within the more 

complex and ad-hoc picture of children’s social care transport commissioning. 

While efficiency is managed by route review and economy by retendering, there are less 

opportunities to manage demand. Mainstream is generally predictable however SEND transport has 

experienced escalating demand pressure, 10% contingency being built in yet 18% demand growth 

experienced in 2021/22. Whilst diagnosis of SEND may be difficult to predict there is opportunity to 

mitigate this to some extent via creating a more deeply integrated working relationship between 

Northumberland Inclusive Education Service, transport officers and schools where Northumberland 

Inclusive Education Service should develop modes of providing transport officers with greater levels 

of intelligence and early warning of upcoming demand as far as is practicable within this complex 

landscape. 

 

Commissioning & contract management 

 

During review of commissioning and contract management resource a series of structured 

interviews were conducted with the passenger transport manager, transport contracts and 

compliance manager and other associated transport officers as well as studying processes, 

procedures and documentation related to commissioning and management. 

First contact with transport providers is initiated via procurement when providers apply to become 

an approved supplier on the transport dynamic purchasing system. Becoming an approved supplier 

utilises a self-certification approach via questionnaire, typically around 200 suppliers on DPS at any 

time, each selecting which transport lot they intend to secure work within, i.e. SEND, mainstream, 

etc. The approach commencing via procurement and involving an initial light touch self-certification 

is an effective model to reduce demand upon transport officers. 

When an approved supplier proceeds to secure a contract for transport following competitive tender 

further detailed compliance checks are undertaken and updated termly when commissioned. This 

approach ensures a wide range of transport providers are accessible but maintains efficiency for 

Page 57



 

20 
 

compliance officers by only requiring more detailed compliance checks upon contract award and 

then periodic update. 

The transport team have authority to perform core purchasing activities outside of procurement, an 

effective flexibility allowing the agility necessary to deliver the high volume of comparatively small 

transactions. A zero-tolerance policy on invoice accuracy is in place which sets high standards for 

providers financial management, keeping tight control over a very large volume of transactions. 

The approach to management of contracted providers is positive and looks to support contractors to 

improve performance when issues arise rather than terminate contracts as well as rewarding of 

good performance with an operating credit system. The deployment of resource to support 

providers contributes to continuity of provision and offsets resource that would otherwise be 

necessary to manage service continuity issues and to manage supplier turnover – this way of 

working growing in importance owing to current pressures upon the operator network owing to 

escalating cost and driver shortage. 

Efficiency is managed via route reviews aligned with contract end dates for the different 

geographical areas and types of transport; these are carried out periodically however greater 

digitisation would allow instances of creep in efficiencies to be automatically identified and rectified 

more rapidly which on aggregation would provide a cost advantage. 

Economy is driven by competitive retendering of contracts however acknowledging that a balanced 

approach is needed given transport providers require sustainability in contracts to remain interested 

in providing home to school transport without which risk to continuity of service is introduced, the 

team balance this aspect effectively. 

Management of invoices and receipts is resource hungry and as part of the feasibility study into an 

end-to-end transport management system the potential to reduce the administrative burden should 

be explored whilst being able to maintain the zero-tolerance policy. This integration would also 

provide the benefit of route and contract changes and associated finances being instantly reflected 

in real-time reporting at the press of a button. 

A well-developed set of key performance indicators has been put in place for ongoing monitoring of 

the performance of the business unit. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

21 
 

Budget forecasting 

 

During review of resource contributing to budget forecasting a series of structured interviews were 

conducted with the passenger transport manager, transport contracts and compliance manager, a 

range of stakeholder service areas and a range of supporting documentation reviewed. 

The budget forecast cycle is a challenge and poses risks owing to budgets being set prior to the 

financial year commencing in April but with stable application and demand data for that year not 

being fully visible until the following October, the picture is stable October until March. Whilst this 

misalignment of financial year and application cycle is unlikely to change, the challenge should be 

acknowledged and the importance of maximising the input of data and resource from children’s 

services to support forecasting should be recognised. 

Different transport user groups bring different challenges to budget forecasting. 

Adult and children’s social care are relatively small in scale and despite the ad-hoc nature of 

children’s social care do not significantly vary year to year so can be forecast sufficiently accurately. 

Post 16 transport is unpredictable and complex however it is also a small part of transport provision 

so in overall budget terms can be forecast sufficiently accurately year to year. 

Mainstream home to school transport benefits from children being in the system for several years 

bringing year to year demand side forecasting stability and the ability to use the school admissions 

process to inform budgets of new entrants to the transport system. Within mainstream transport an 

area of challenge is redirection of pupils away from their local school which then makes them 

eligible for transport to schools further afield and thus likely to be individual or low occupancy on 

the route, this scenario accounting for £340,000 cost in 2021-22. It is proposed in the policy section 

that the approach to pupil redirection is considered at policy level and that children’s services 

contribute to developing this policy. It is also recommended that closer working between school 

admissions and transport teams is introduced, increasing the responsibility placed upon the 

admissions team to inform transport planning, allowing the maximum benefit of admissions data to 

be realised in transport planning and taking advantage of opportunity to alleviate pressures on the 

transport team by utilising resource within the interrelated business function. This would also 

support the development of an integrated ‘one stop shop’ for admissions and transport. 

SEND transport has experienced escalating demand pressure. 10% contingency being built into 

budget forecast, yet 18% actual growth experienced in 2021/22 and hence delivering a significant 

budget overspend. Compounding the demand is the complexity of SEND transport geography where 

circa 40% of users are individual travellers covering long distances to specialist providers. It is 

Page 59



 

22 
 

recommended that this specific area is subject to focus on how personal budget proportionate to 

the cost of commissioned transport, rather than by mileage rate alone, can be used to engage more 

parents in providing transport, reducing commissioned transport cost, and reducing resource 

demands of complex commissioning. 

Whilst diagnosis of SEND and resulting transport demand may be difficult to accurately forecast 

there is opportunity to mitigate this to a degree by developing greater connection between 

Northumberland Inclusive Education Service (benefiting from its specialist provision relationships) 

with transport planning officers. In this area it is recommended that Northumberland Inclusive 

Education Service should develop modes of providing transport officers with greater levels of 

intelligence and early warning of upcoming demand, working toward shared efficiency objectives 

while maintaining user satisfaction. 

In addition to demand side impacts, budgets are also impacted by supply side issues affecting the 

transport market, key issues recently being the unprecedented increase in the cost of fuel, 

widespread driver shortages and the reduction in numbers of transport operators across the 

transport industry, which has been exacerbated by the downturn in the transport sector during the 

pandemic and the associated movement of drivers away from the industry. 

 

 

Systems & processes 

 

During review of systems and process resource structured interviews were conducted with the 

passenger transport manager, transport contracts and compliance manager, operational transport 

officers, a range of stakeholder service areas and a range of supporting documentation reviewed. 

External semi structured interviews were also conducted with five comparable local authorities and 

an independent transport consultancy. 

Greater digital integration of the functions of transport management is a common theme 

throughout the aspects considered during review, the detail of where this is considered an 

advantage can be found within many of the recommendation areas. 

More broadly, EMS case management system is used within Education, Swift is used within Adult 

Social Care and ICS is used within Children’s Social Care. The Passenger Transport Team use the 

transport module within EMS and Oracle E Business for payments. These platforms are not yet 

sufficiently joined up with supporting systems within Transport which can require manual 

intervention to complete administrative functions which could be more automated. This is 

Page 60



 

23 
 

particularly relevant to financial management where the case management systems can be seen to 

indicate differing quantities of transport contract to that seen in financial management/invoicing 

systems needing resolving manually. Some work is underway by Performance and Systems Support 

team to link LIFT directly with ICS to deliver precise and integrated financial management however 

LIFT is unable to link with EMS so is not a solution for all areas which use NCC managed transport. It 

should also be noted that Children’s Services are currently reviewing whether EMS or alternative 

systems will be used as the education management system going forward and this should be 

factored into wider planning of transport system developments. 

A variety of end-to-end transport management systems are available which are tailored to the 

functions of local authority transport teams, these have potential to provide a step change in the 

development of the transport service, the move to such systems being prominent in section 5 of this 

report and operational recommendations within Appendix 06. 

Currently a range of different management information systems are used across different transport 

areas and functions, the join-up of these being underdeveloped resulting in some processes still 

requiring labour intensive manual input and the benefits of end-to-end systems not yet being 

realised, the potential for a transport management system to link seamlessly with existing systems is 

however essential and must be a primary requirement when exploring systems. 

Greater system integration via more current transport management systems has potential to 

provide particular advantage to SEND transport including more centralised records of individual 

needs where EHCP coordinators, parent/carers, schools, drivers & PTA’s have potential for greater 

access to current information appropriate to their role or relationship with the children and young 

people using transport. Driver/PTA credentials and training status has potential for greater visibility 

to appropriate officers as well as EHCP coordinators and schools’ potential to access information on 

the nature of peers sharing transport in consideration of multi-vehicle occupancy planning. The 

impact of greater visibility and appropriate levels of access to all stakeholders is suggested will offer 

officers and professionals involved in planning and delivering aspects of transport and education the 

opportunity to raise satisfaction levels of users while making administrative arrangements more 

efficient. 

roader adoption of transport management systems brings potential for greater analysis of combining 

routes and appropriate combining of individuals in the reactive and short to medium term transport 

arrangements within children’s social care. Equally, children’s social care transport can change short 

notice owing to care related needs; more advanced transport systems have potential to support the 

Page 61



 

24 
 

passenger transport team in identifying journeys which have been cancelled or rearranged including 

streamlining accounting for the financial impact of such changes. 

Adult social care officers comment however that temporary amendments and pauses in adult social 

care transport are not always sufficiently visible, for example when a family call a transport operator 

directly to cancel a journey. In this area there is potential for any transport management system 

adopted in the medium to longer term to contribute to assisting with visibility in this area however 

acknowledging that such occurrences are a minority. 

The proposed approach is that an independent feasibility study is commissioned to establish the 

detailed needs of NCC passenger transport team and the most appropriate system identified so that 

cost benefit analysis can be carried out. This measured approach should consider how best to 

support implementation of system change whilst maintaining continuity of service and ensure that 

the most appropriate system is identified to fit NCC policy, systems, and processes, rather than 

risking the selection of a system then changing business processes to fit. 

It is acknowledged that whilst approaching this service development via a detailed and independent 

market-wide feasibility study will deliver the most fit for purpose and value for money solution, that 

this will result in this development being a medium to long term implementation timeframe and that 

other continuous improvement measures should not be ruled out to enhance service delivery in the 

short term. It should also be considered during feasibility study how developments in transport 

management systems fit into and complement wider education management system plans and the 

wider strategic change programme of Northumberland County Council. 

 

Sustainability monitoring 

 

he carbon impact associated with home to school transport has historically been unknown with 

resources, systems and processes not yet in place to allow benchmarking and improvement of 

carbon impacts – the passenger transport team have recently commenced work with the 

sustainability team on this agenda. The passenger transport team will continue this work to identify 

and adopt ways in which carbon impact monitoring can be established, resulting in carbon impact 

benchmarking allowing carbon impact reduction measures to be enacted via diversifying transport 

modes and developing commissioning practice, the impacts of those measures monitored against 

benchmark. Whilst this work has been commenced locally increasing the profile and support for this 

initiative has potential to accelerate the impacts. During feasibility study into transport management 

systems and the vehicle tracking technology which forms part of more advanced transport 

Page 62



 

25 
 

management systems, carbon impact monitoring should also be considered as a desirable feature as 

this development has potential to be delivered as part of wider digitisation measures. 

3.4 Resources – Key Recommendations: 

1. NCC Senior Leadership Team and committee evaluate the range of options put forward for 

transport models (Section 3.5) and where the transport services best sit within 

Northumberland County Council, providing feedback on the options. 

2. Maintain current staffing levels within the passenger transport team, reviewing the model 

periodically to allow the model to evolve with developments of the service. 

3. Commence Children’s Social Care transport working group modelled upon that in place for 

Adult Social Care. 

4. Conduct an independent market-wide feasibility study appraising which end-to-end 

transport management system would be most fit for purpose and will deliver greatest value 

for money. 

5. School safeguarding team contribute to safeguarding spot checks whilst at school sites, 

providing enhanced coverage. 

6. School Admissions and Passenger Transport Team combining application and transport 

processes where appropriate to raise efficiencies. 

7. Introduce consistent and sufficient independent travel training provision within Children’s 

Services, using this resource to develop Independent Travel Training provision within school 

settings. 

8. Develop a formal channel via which Education & Skills can contribute to eligibility assessment 

of the more complex cases of post 16 vocational education programmes. 

9. Develop a formal channel via which Northumberland Inclusive Education Service can 

contribute to eligibility assessment of the more complex cases of post 16 SEND education 

programmes. 

10. Passenger transport team to work with the sustainability team to identify and adopt a 

resource with which carbon impact monitoring and reduction can be established. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



 

26 
 

 

3.5. Terms of Reference Review Phase 05 – Service Integration, Business Models & 
Systems 

 

Transport models, links with other service areas, where service best fits 

 

During review and exploration of models and links to other service areas semi structured interviews 

were undertaken with five comparable local authorities and an independent transport consultancy. 

Typically, two main transport models are commonly adopted by LA’s with a range of examples of 

how these models are delivered in practice. 

Firstly, an Integrated Transport Unit model delivered within Local Services (or equivalent service 

area) is commonly adopted where the transport function remains independent to all other 

functions, acts as a standalone business unit, and has formal contracts in place with all internal and 

external stakeholders/clients, in some instances delivering some transport functions itself with its 

own fleet of vehicles rather than commissioning. It is independently responsible for all its own 

budgetary and quality performance. Feedback suggests this model is typically able to deliver 

greatest financial performance but may be less focused upon some of the qualitative elements of 

performance and user satisfaction where these considerations are not sufficiently prioritised. 

It should be noted that lack of focus on qualitative elements is less apparent in the current NCC ITU 

arrangements, where the team have implemented a number of qualitative enhancements to the 

service including SEND information booklet for parents; disability/autism awareness training for 

contract personnel and more digitised transport application processes. There is however no formal 

mechanism currently in place to establish user satisfaction levels, to benchmark these, and then 

work to positively shift the satisfaction levels of all user groups. The implementation of these 

mechanisms is required to allow true qualitative distance travelled to be measured year-on-year, to 

inform focused and evidence-based quality improvement initiatives and to establish a range of 

qualitative key performance indicators. 

Secondly, the alternative to the ITU model is separating the education transport functions from the 

wider passenger transport functions to create two separate teams and embedding of the education 

transport unit within Children’s Services, with the other transport functions remaining within a Place 

or Environmental service such as Local Services. In relation to the home to school transport element 

sitting within children’s services, whilst this model can focus on financial performance as a priority 

there is typically a strong qualitative element to this model and greater focus upon the end user 

Page 64



 

27 
 

than with an ITU approach given the Children’s Service’s influence. It is to be noted that balance is 

essential with this model to prevent focus upon service quality from causing escalation of costs. 

Northumberland County Councils current passenger transport arrangement is biased more toward 

the ITU model although not as significantly independent and contract driven as some other ITU’s. 

Of the five local authorities consulted with, a variety of interpretations of the models are in place, 

some authorities having adopted both at various times, and from discussions during review each 

model has been seen to work effectively within local authorities when the right network of 

individuals and teams are in place working to shared objectives to drive the function successfully. 

In Wiltshire, the model is more toward the ITU however a small number of staff are employed jointly 

between Children’s Service and the ITU to improve the operation of SEN Transport. 

In Devon, the model is a well-established ITU which offers services for public transport, Children’s 

Services, Adult Care and also for NHS for whom it handles eligibility assessment and bookings for 

non-emergency transport.  The ITU is continuing to evolve with most recent intentions being a move 

away from their current transactional application process as the intended outcome, including an 

adoption of more advanced transport management systems, this forming part of a wider strategic 

change programme. 

In Norfolk, an ITU model is in place which has been moved around various departments within their 

Community & Environment Directorate, a key aim of the current operating model being to make the 

service more procedural, rather than user centric. 

In Surrey, a move to relocate home to school transport into children’s services was made in 2020 

however staffing problems have plagued this move, the impacts of which are still ongoing, leaving 

Surrey CC with the advice that a move to children’s services has benefits however the transition 

must be managed carefully to maintain continuity. 

In Lincolnshire, a three-year transport transformation programme is underway to introduce a 

‘business centric’ model prioritising cutting cost. 

It is apparent that transport functions across this range of local authorities tend towards the 

integrated ITU model but there is some degree of flux as these continue to evolve. In a limited 

number of cases some ITUs have split some of the education transport function from other 

passenger transport duties. It is also apparent that to be successful the function must have clear 

priorities and an operational structure that is clear in order to deliver the priorities, whichever model 

is in place. 

Page 65



 

28 
 

It should be noted that in general Northumberland’s Passenger Team performs well in comparison 

to issues present in some other authorities. 

Within Northumberland County Council circa 95% of transport delivery is specific to mainstream 

school transport, SEND transport, post 16 education transport, EOTAS and children’s social care – 

this meaning that the vast majority of transport delivery is inextricably linked to contributing to the 

objectives and priorities of Children’s Services suggesting greater contribution from and closer 

working with Children’s Services would be advantageous. It should also be acknowledged however 

that a proportion of commissioned transport managed by the passenger transport team is not 

directly related to Children’s Services so should be carefully considered. Supported bus services for 

example which the passenger transport team design, timetable and commission based on specific 

local needs are managed by the same team members so would be difficult to extract from the team 

without building duplication or fragmentation. It is also important to acknowledge the supported 

bus service developments commencing which will increase the volume of this mode of transport via 

Department for Transport Bus Recovery Grant and local authority Bus Service Improvement Plans. 

These potentially transformational programmes increasing the volume of bus coverage and the 

potential for buses to contribute to efficient home to school transport within a bigger picture of 

public transport beyond the remit of Children’s Services. 

In some areas, for example SEND transport, budgetary responsibility lies within Children’s Services 

whilst operational responsibility lies within Local Services, in this instance it can be argued that 

having both budget and operational responsibilities more closely connected would be an advantage 

however improvements could also be made by closer joint working. 

Children’s services, particularly School Organisation and Resources, Northumberland Inclusive 

Education Service and Children’s Social Care have potential as set out in previous sections to 

contribute more in terms of supporting resource but also providing greater pupil place planning data 

and intelligence to steer policy direction and efficiencies of planning and delivering transport if the 

passenger transport team were more closely connected with these business functions. School 

Organisation and Resources in particular having an Education Business manager and team to support 

financial processes and developments, School Admissions team to support operational planning and 

applications processes to relieve pressures upon the passenger transport team which are evident at 

peak times. This would also bring Children’s Services priorities to the forefront of transport delivery. 

Whilst there is not one singular seismic impact expected the aggregation of the range of gains 

delivered by reduced boundaries and greater systems working toward more formal shared 

objectives with children’s services suggests that adopting a model where the passenger transport 

Page 66



 

29 
 

team has closer joint working with children’s services with responsibilities more clearly set out, and 

where appropriate shared, would be a logical development. 

Given the above and the significant expenditure on Children’s Services transport it is natural to 

consider whether any of the passenger transport team function should be formally managed by 

Children’s Services. However, when considering how this closer working could be achieved and 

whether this should be through closer joint working or formally separating the Passenger Transport 

Unit to form a separate education transport unit, careful consideration is needed of the potential 

benefits and disbenefits. Consideration must also be given to whether it would be appropriate to 

move the whole passenger transport team to Children’s Services. This would mean the Public 

Transport function and other non-education transport functions of the team also being managed by 

Children’s Services, NCC ITU are not aware of any other Local authority where this is the case. The 

inherent risks associated with the unproven nature of the model of relocating the complete 

passenger transport team to Children’s Services should not be underestimated. 

A consideration of advantages and disadvantages of a range of models to reduce boundaries and 

enhance systems working is set out below in tables 01 to 04: 

Table 01: 

Option 1: Moving all transport for purposes of education to School Organisation & Resources 
within Children’s Services, transport for purposes other than education remaining within Local 
Services - this would mean that there would be two operational level teams, one based in Children’s 
Services and responsible for organising all school/education transport and children’s social care 
transport and another based in Local Services and responsible for public transport, adult care 
transport, DRT, dial a rides, community transport.  

Advantages Disadvantages 

Potential for the home to school transport element 
to be used to directly contribute to achieving 
Children’s Services priorities via maximum 
integration with children's services teams allowing 
greatest focus upon priorities. 

Team is currently a completely integrated 
passenger transport unit that carries out  
public transport, home to school transport, 
adult and children's services social care 
transport duties – this integration and 
understanding of overall transport provision 
in Northumberland and it’s benefit to the 
wider community may be lost. 

Responsibility for the budget and for the home to 
school transport team making decisions about 
eligibility for school travel support could potentially 
be brought into closer alignment. [But in practice, it 
remains difficult for the eligibility team (particularly 
SEN eligibility) to take transport costs into account 
as a key factor in decision making.] 

 

 

Potential for administrative duplication by 
splitting one team into two with similar 
functions. For example, will procurement be 
done separately for the two elements? What 
about contract management? How will 
service inspectors be split across the two 
units? May require additional staff reflecting 
the fact that individual PTU staff currently 
work on an integrated basis, resulting in 
increased salary costs. Lack of integration 

Page 67



 

30 
 

and oversight would increase the risk of 
opportunities for service improvements and 
efficiencies being missed – for example, 
incorporating supported bus services into 
education transport routes. 

Senior departmental management responsible for 
long-term planning of school capacity, use of out of 
county placements, location of schools and units 
could be made responsible for the budget so that 
the impact on transport could, in principle, be taken 
into account when those decisions are made. 
However in practice, it is often the case that 
transport costs have little influence over wider 
decisions. 

 

Reorganising the location of responsibilities 
does not necessarily tackle any of the many 
cost drivers that impact on the school 
transport budget. These include both 
demand-side issues (e.g. eligibility and fare 
paying passengers) and supply-side issues 
(e.g. managing the commercial market).   

These impact both public transport and 
home to school transport. 

There can be clearer alignment between policy 
responsibility and budget responsibility for the home 
to school transport elements. 

 

Loss of professional expertise in passenger 
transport matters (e.g. legislation) for aspect 
of service transferred to Children’s Services 
with no underlying interest in wider 
transport issues and no career path for staff 
involved in transport. Likely to increase 
recruitment and retention issues for 
transport staff with knock-on impacts for 
service resilience. 

If home to school transport is wholly within 
Children’s Services remit, may stimulate initiatives 
for home to school transport to deliver on Children’s 
Services priorities such as provision of Independent 
Travel Training . May make it easier to get buy in 
from Children’s Services to develop and implement 
Invest to Save initiatives such as this 

 

Risks ignoring the overlap between 
mainstream school transport and local bus 
service provision which is significant. Many 
schoolchildren travel to school on 
‘commercial’ and supported local bus 
services. Some ‘commercial’ bus services are 
only viable because of the income from 
scholars. Decisions on whether to buy 
scholar seats on a commercial local bus 
service or to commission a public bus service 
that includes a school journey or to 
commission a closed door school bus service 
not available to the public need to be made 
from a corporate perspective to get the best 
value for the county’s residents as a whole. 
Separating off statutory school transport 
requirements runs the risk of resulting in 
greater cost to maintain the local bus 
network or the loss of some of that network, 
whilst not achieving any corresponding 
savings in school transport. 

In particular the PTU currently considers the 
needs of non-entitled children travelling to 
school when making decisions about local 

Page 68



 

31 
 

bus provision. It is not obvious that a team 
within Children’s Services would have a 
remit to make provision for the wider 
travelling public (i.e. non-entitled scholars) 
when deciding what services to commission. 

 

Streamlines communication chains for home to 
school transport element e.g. possibly makes it 
easier to persuade schools to play their part in 
arrangements that reduce transport costs if they are 
relating to a transport team in Children’s Services 
rather than one in Local Services?  

Loss of the potential to package education 
transport and non-education transport 
together in single contracts if they are being 
commissioned separately. This is likely to 
cost more, but as importantly this can also 
be critical to sustaining small operators. This 
applies to both mainstream and SEN 
transport provision. Also risks doubling the 
amount of commissioning activity (and cost) 
at a time when there are major supply-side 
issues, driver shortages etc. 

 

Could harness additional energy and management 
effort within Children’s Services (though this isn’t 
exclusive to this model) 

 

 

Risk of misalignment between quality and 
safety standards if two teams are 
commissioning similar services. E.g. safety 
and passenger care standards across school 
transport, social care transport and public 
transport/community transport 
commissioned by the Council. This contains 
potential for legal challenge. 

 

Where the administration of school transport 
identifies gaps in the existing policies it could be 
easier / quicker to implement the processes around 
changing policies. 

 

Disruption and administrative costs 
associated with splitting the PTU into two 
units and moving some staff (physically?). 

 

Risk of requiring two separate IT systems -  
one with a focus on school transport and 
one with a focus on local bus transport, but 
covering similar material e.g. operator 
details and records. 

 

 

Will it be more difficult for a Unit focused 
just on school transport to be able to 
contribute adequately to the Council’s 
decarbonisation agenda (move to zero-
emission transport)? Potential risk of a two-
speed model. 

Page 69



 

32 
 

 

 

Abandons the best practice model of 
Integrated Transport Units as championed 
by the Audit Commission. 

 

 

Splitting the PTU up in this way could be 
seen as admission that facilitating 
collaborative joint working across 
departments has been unsuccessful e.g. 
effective joint budget management.  

 

There will be loss of logistical efficiencies in 
transport delivery where separate planning 
occurs. 

 

 

Risk that this is perceived by NCC staff and 
externally as a downgrading of the County’s 
public passenger transport function 

 

 

Given the complexity of transport and the 
supplier market for all facets of transport 
(buses, coaches, taxis, community transport, 
etc) in Northumberland it is key that 
transport decisions are made taking into 
account the best outcomes for transport 
overall. The ability to fully understand this 
and to make decisions accordingly would be 
significantly reduced if transport decisions 
were being taken by two separate teams      

 

Looking forward, Government policy 
including Bus Service Improvement Plans will 
place even further emphasis on local bus 
service development.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70



 

33 
 

Table 02: 

Option 2: Closer Joint Working Model (between Passenger Transport Team & Children’s Services) 
 - this would mean the PTU remaining as it is in Local Services and as currently constituted but with 
an improved relationship with Children’s Services (aided by an SLA). A part of this may involve the 
adoption of integrated IT systems where appropriate that enhances joint working across the two 
teams resulting in productivity gains and improved levels of customer service.  

Advantages Disadvantages 

Passenger Transport Teams current good level of 
performance would be further enhanced by 
improved joint working with Children’s Services. 
Could allow more integration with Children’s 
Services teams, allowing some resource to 
supplement the work of the Passenger Transport 
Team at peak periods.  School Organisation and 
Resources, Northumberland Inclusive Education 
Service and Children’s Social Care have potential as 
set out in previous sections to contribute more in 
terms of supporting resource but also providing 
greater pupil place planning data and intelligence to 
steer policy direction and efficiencies of planning 
and delivering transport through enhanced joint 
working between the passenger transport team and 
these business functions.  

Will need to be actively followed through 
with Executive Director/Service Director 
support to ensure that initiatives and 
improvements are successfully achieved, to 
avoid risk that the difference between this 
and an ‘As Is’ model will not be perceived, 
and therefore there will be limited or no 
impact on current relationships and 
arrangements. 

Continues as an integrated unit with full knowledge 
and understanding of all aspects of transport 
provision across the County to ensure decision 
making takes account of best outcomes for overall 
transport provision in the County (e.g. in impacts of 
utilisation of public transport for fulfilling home to 
school transport statutory provision, and provision 
of public transport services where possible to assist 
non-eligible pupils to access education).   

Will require clear agreement on who will 
take the lead on improvement activities such 
as the feasibility study into enhanced 
Transport Management Systems and how 
this will be resourced 

Continuity of service provision in Passenger 
Transport Team, alongside enhanced input from 
Children’s Services. 
 

Will require clear governance and 
management arrangements to deliver the 
improvement action plan that details 
allocation of responsibilities, resources and 
timeframes. 

Maximises benefits of a Council integrated 
passenger transport team but with enhanced 
working with Children’s Services teams for the home 
to school transport and children's social care 
elements of service  

 

Retains expertise without need to split roles 
between two teams, maximising efficiency of 
staffing structures for transport and avoids issues 
around lack of career path/recruitment and 
retention of transport staff 

 

Continuity of senior management input from Local 
Services managers utilising their knowledge and 

 

Page 71



 

34 
 

expertise on transport issues, but supplemented by 
enhanced input from Children’s Services   

Allows continued focus on the overlap between 
mainstream school transport and local bus service 
provision which is significant. Many schoolchildren 
travel to school on ‘commercial’ and supported local 
bus services. Some ‘commercial’ bus services are 
only viable because of the income from scholars. 
Decisions on whether to buy scholar seats on a 
commercial local bus service or to commission a 
public bus service that includes a school journey or 
to commission a closed-door school bus service not 
available to the public need to be made from a 
corporate perspective to get the best value for the 
county residents as a whole. Separating off statutory 
school transport requirements runs the risk of 
resulting in greater cost to maintain the local bus 
network or the loss of some of that network, whilst 
not achieving any corresponding savings in school 
transport. 

In particular the PTU currently considers the needs 
of non-entitled children travelling to school when 
making decisions about local bus provision. It is not 
obvious that a team considering home to school 
transport within Children’s Services would have a 
remit to make provision for the wider travelling 
public (i.e. non-entitled scholars) when deciding 
what services to commission. 

 

The further emphasis on local bus service 
development looking forward including Bus Service 
Improvement Plans will continue to be dealt with by 
an integrated passenger transport team with senior 
management knowledgeable on public transport to 
support this aspect.  BSIP consists of £8.1M grant 
funding of local bus services over the next 2.5 years 
and has the potential to have a transformative 
impact on the travel patterns of young people 
(including students) and other members of the 
travelling public.  

 

Can achieve the improvements for home to school 
transport and social care transport that have been 
identified through the review without the 
disbenefits inherent in the other options 

 

Maintains the benefits of service integration e.g. 
thinking corporately when designing mainstream 
school bus services which may also serve the general 
public (including non-entitled scholars). 
 

  
 

Page 72



 

35 
 

Takes the opportunity to create a clearer client-
agent relationship between the PTU and its 
corporate clients (Children’s Services, Local Services, 
Adult Social Services) underpinned by SLAs showing 
the service standards that the PTU will deliver. 
 

 
 

Would allow development of improved services / 
functions through specific and short-term shared 
(i.e. joint) Task & Finish groups e.g. to introduce 
Independent Travel Training or to agree the 
specification for an IT system and plan for its 
implementation. 

 

Takes advantage of the opportunity to redefine 
information flows and reporting arrangements 
around the acquisition of an integrated transport 
management software system 

 

Avoids disruption costs  

Clearer focus on ‘outcomes’ improvement.  

 

Table 03: 

Option 3: Children's Services Transport Model – this would mean the PTU as it is currently 
constituted moving in its entirety into Children’s Services Directorate   

Advantages Disadvantages 

Could allow more integration with Children’s 
Services teams, allowing some resource to 
supplement the work of the Passenger Transport 
Team at peak periods.  School Organisation and 
Resources, Northumberland Inclusive Education 
Service and Children’s Social Care have potential as 
set out in previous sections to contribute more in 
terms of supporting resource but also providing 
greater pupil place planning data and intelligence to 
steer policy direction and efficiencies of planning 
and delivering transport through enhanced joint 
working between the passenger transport team and 
these business functions.  

There are no examples of this model in 
operation in any other local authority as far 
as can be ascertained. We are not aware of 
any Integrated Passenger Transport Unit in 
any Local Authority previously or currently 
covering all aspects of transport (incl Public 
Transport) that sits fully within Children’s 
Services. This would therefore be an 
unproven model of service. 

As an integrated passenger transport team, could 
maintain the benefits of service integration e.g. 
thinking corporately when designing mainstream 
school bus services which may also serve the general 
public (including non-entitled scholars). 
 

Does not take account of the wider work 
other than home to school transport that 
the integrated passenger transport team 
carries out (particularly for public transport 
inc supported public transport bus services).  

Might improve the contribution of Children’s 
Services and schools to sustainable transport 
initiatives around education – walking buses, ITT, 
cycling initiatives, etc. 

Unclear how senior managers in Children’s 
Services would provide the support to the 
team on overall transport legislation, 
operations and development (such as public 

Page 73



 

36 
 

transport, community transport, transport 
operator regulations etc)  

Shortens important communication channels around 
school transport aspects 

 

Looking forward, Government policy 
including Bus Service Improvement Plans will 
place even further emphasis on local bus 
service development needing further senior 
management focus on these elements and it 
is unclear without significant additional 
learning and development and allocation of 
resource for these aspects how senior 
managers in Children’s Services would have 
the knowledge / expertise / time to provide 
this support to the team 

 

The senior managers within the PTU do not 
believe this is the correct approach given 
their wider role in transport provision other 
than simply home to school transport. 
Implementing a structural change in this way 
is therefore likely to be de-motivational for a 
team that performs well    

 

This would require Children’s Services 
management to have a full understanding of 
local public transport operation. It is unlikely 
given their other duties that they would be 
able to focus on the public transport and 
wider transport system in the County.  

 

In view of the on-going consideration of 
overall structure of the Council it could be 
viewed as being premature to consider 
moving an individual team that has linkages 
with both Place and Children’s Services and 
that any changes to structural alignments 
between service areas should be considered 
more holistically as part of this wider council 
wide exercise. 

 

The improvements for home to school 
transport and social care transport that have 
been identified through the review can be 
achieved without the disbenefits inherent 
with moving the Passenger Transport Team 
into Children’s Services   

 
 

Potentially breaks or diminishes the link 
between passenger transport policy (within 
the Council’s wider movement strategy) and 
passenger transport commissioning and 
management. 
 
 
 

Page 74



 

37 
 

 

Could potentially result in reduced input / 
activity levels around supporting public and 
community transport. 
 

 

Would possibly make cross-boundary co-
operation (Nexus, Durham, etc.) more 
difficult, including working within joint 
authority structures. 
 

 

Table 04: 

Option 4: Local Services Transport Unit Model – this would mean that ITU stays where it is as 
currently constituted, no change  

Advantages Disadvantages 

Team would continue to perform at it’s current good 
level of performance 

None of the identified opportunities for 
further joint working between Children’s 
Services and the Passenger Transport Team 
are maximised. Nothing will change as 
regards outcomes. This approach contains 
no plan for service improvement / improved 
cost containment. 
  

Continues as an integrated unit with full knowledge 
and understanding of all aspects of transport 
provision across the County to ensure decision 
making takes account of best outcomes for overall 
transport provision in the County 

Doesn’t alter the relationships and 
communication channels between the 
various stakeholders, if these need 
improvement 

Continuity of service provision and senior 
management support that is currently provided by 
Technical Services Management 

A ‘no change’ response will be perceived as 
accepting that there is no need for action / 
nothing that can be done to improve 
arrangements, or that analysis has failed to 
identify potential improvement paths. This 
will demoralise stakeholders and will have 
the effect of making it difficult to energise 
for any actual change initiatives that may be 
needed. 

No disruption for staff – avoids unnecessary 
associated costs of change 
 
 

No incentive to invest in a new IT system 
and make it the focus for improved 
processes and joint working 

Evidence from other authorities does not suggest 
that moving away from an ITU model delivers any 
long-term benefits. Indeed there are examples 
where the situation (e.g. budget overspend) has got 
worse because management efforts have focused on 
the wrong issue (location of the PTU) instead of 
tackling the underlying cost and quality drivers. 

 
 

 

Page 75



 

38 
 

 

In conclusion to the advantages and disadvantages evaluation, option 1 is acknowledged to present 

advantages with regard to the priorities of Children’s Services but also risk of fragmentation, 

duplication and missed opportunity to take advantage of the benefits that a whole system overview 

brings and could be perceived as contrary to other strategic change initiatives in delivery within NCC. 

Option 2 provides potential for the passenger transport team to make a greater contribution toward 

Children’s Services priorities, for Children’s Services to support the passenger transport team, offers 

reduced risk to business function continuity overall but risks the perception of an ‘As is’ scenario 

which will be limiting to the impact of this option. Option 3 is considered high risk in terms of being a 

largely untested model, particularly around the continuity of transport for purposes other than 

education. Option 4 (the do-nothing option) is recommended to be discounted owing to the 

acknowledgement of all stakeholders of the opportunity to enhance outcomes by adopting a 

different operating model going forward. 

It should be noted that whilst the Home to School Transport review has focused specifically upon the 

operations of the Passenger Transport Team, that there is further public transport management 

activity within Northumberland County Councils Regeneration directorate under the Strategic 

Transport function. It is proposed that this is kept in mind during the developments set out and 

considered as Home to School Transport review workstreams begin to connect with the wider 

structure changes. 

 

 

Single points of failure 

 

The Leanness of the passenger transport team is set out within the resource section as are the 

pressures upon the team, particularly around peak times of the academic cycle. 

Whilst systems and processes utilised to commission and deliver transport have been subject to 

continuous improvement there remains potential for further investment to provide more advanced 

systems which are joined up end-to-end, some areas currently rely too heavily on manual 

intervention, knowledge, and expertise to provide continuity of service. 

The passenger transport team is a prime example of a business function with team members which 

are highly knowledgeable and experienced in maintaining the day-to-day delivery of the business 

function using their significant knowledge of the systems and processes that they have worked to 

establish. 

Page 76



 

39 
 

Whilst the team should be commended for the effort to which they go and the scale of what they 

deliver within a lean structure and with tools they have available; this introduces the risk of single 

points of failure. 

The greatest risk in this regard it is suggested is with respect to the Passenger Transport Manager, 

Transport Contracts and Compliance Manager and Senior Transport Network Officer without the 

deep operational knowledge and significant effort over and above the expectation it would be 

difficult to guarantee continuity of service without experiencing operational challenges that 

remaining staff would find difficult to overcome. 

It is suggested that the move to more digitised transport management systems which runs as a 

thread throughout this report has potential to reduce single point of failure risk by introducing a 

more systematic approach with reduced need for manual intervention and application of knowledge 

specific to the current ways of working and pinch-points of the transport system. 

It is also suggested that more integrated working between the passenger transport team and 

Children’s Services would also provide opportunity for greater dissemination of knowledge and 

provision of wrap-around support. The school admissions and transport applications processes and 

the finance functions within transport and school organisation & resources being two key areas 

where most benefits could be realised. 

 

3.5 Service Integration, Business Models & Systems – Key Recommendations: 

 

1. Consider transport model options as set out in tables 01 to 04 as part of the wider structure 

considerations within Northumberland County Council. 

 
2. Feasibility study into end-to-end transport management systems should prioritise exploring 

potential to reduce single point of failure risk. 

 
3. Consider how Home to School Transport review workstreams connect with the wider 

structural review, including consideration of Strategic Transport activity delivered within the 

Regeneration directorate. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77



 

40 
 

 

4. Quantitative ‘Value for Money’ Savings & Investments Developed in Collaboration 
with PeopleToo. 

 

The recommendations which will have a direct financial impact are outlined below. It should be 

noted that there remain a significant number of recommendations in the report which will have a 

direct impact on the operational performance of the service and which will improve the user 

experience.  

Pick up points: Pick up points (PUPS) are operated by the Home to School Transport team, but it has 

been suggested they could be better promoted to expand their acceptance by parents and usage by 

the team. Whilst they are used on some routes, capacity within the team limits their ability to 

perform this consistently, whilst it is often difficult to obtain agreement from parents to accept the 

pick up from a point other than the home. Likewise, route mapping (as covered below) is only 

performed on 25% of routes annually, therefore aligning a review of pick up points, in line with route 

mapping all routes each year, should generate some benefits. Moving forwards, it will be important 

that the team use the additional capacity released from implementing other recommendations, and 

through the required investment in the team to ensure this forms part of the standard routing 

process, whilst also engaging with parents to shift expectations. Pick-up points involve the team 

identifying a suitable location (e.g. mainstream bus stop) which is an easier location to pick up a 

child from. This may be a more efficient place to stop than going to someone’s home, and/or more 

easily accessible. Key to their use are that certain parameters are set, including maximum distances 

to travel to a pick-up-point, and when children/young people would be exempt – i.e. use of a 

wheelchair. PUPs represent best practice and would be highly recommended to be expanded to 

generate further efficiencies in terms of route times, but deliver benefits to children/young people 

in terms of reducing on-board times. As PUPs are currently used, and this relates to an expansion, 

there would be no requirement to consult on a change to policy.  

Personal Budgets: When compared to best practice, it is noted that the current uptake of personal 

budgets is low, at only 2.53%. It is noted that the mileage rate which is offered has recently (in the 

last few months) been increased from £0.29 to £0.45 a mile. In the short term this will have 

increased Personal Budget payments by c50%, but should hopefully facilitate an increase in uptake. 

A good target for the Service should be a minimum of 15%, but many high-performing authorities 

will reach 20%. However, an increase in the mileage rate may only increase uptake so much, and it 

will be critical that the offer of a Personal Budget is more integral to the application process and 

identification of an appropriate transport solution. Therefore an alteration to process would also be 

Page 78



 

41 
 

proposed. Additionally, an increase above the £0.45 rate could be considered in the medium term as 

financial benefits of PB over Mini/bus/Taxi would remain significant. A cap could also be considered 

up to xx miles or £5000 for example which would still be below the average cost of SEN Transport 

which NCC pays per child (£6363). It will be important that a process is implemented to track 

through the avoided cost of placing more children on personal budgets, especially where an increase 

to the mileage rate is implemented.  

Enhanced Budgets: In addition to an increase in the uptake of personal budgets which are calculated 

via a mileage rate, ‘enhanced budgets’ should also be pursued. Enhanced budgets are not currently 

used by the Council, but can be an alternative to personal budgets and may be paid at an enhanced 

rate. An enhanced budget may be offered where the alternative may otherwise be a ‘high-cost’ 

private hire route, or where it would be cheaper for the parent/carer to arrange the transport 

themselves direct. Again a cap could be introduced, but realistically each should be appraised on 

case by case basis. As with personal budgets, it will be important that a process is implemented to 

track through the avoided cost of placing more children on enhanced budgets.  

Route Mapping: Whilst route mapping is undertaken annually, it is understood that this is primarily 

performed on 25% of routes (1 of the 4 areas which the Service is divided in to) as part of a wider 

commissioning exercise. Likewise, it is understood that, whilst the team do utilise route mapping 

software, this does not integrate as well as it could with other operational processes. As a priority, 

the Service should look to procure a Transport Management System (TMS) which would enhance 

this process, and ensure that route mapping would be expanded to all routes on an annual basis. It 

would be considered highly likely that this would result in the rationalisation of routes which would 

reduce the overall costs of delivery.   

Applications: It is understood a high volume of applications are received per annum by the team, 

many of which clearly do not meet the associated eligibility criteria. This is placing a significant 

resource requirement on the team which could otherwise be avoided. Additionally, a revised process 

for applications more generally would be recommended, which would integrate more fluently with a 

Transport system, in addition to the system used by the wider Children’s Directorate. It has been 

identified that the introduction of a ‘self-assessment’ tool, in addition to the process redesign, 

should assist in limiting a significant % of these high-volume non-complex applications and the 

overall resource requirement in the team.  

Resource: Whilst there are a number of initiatives (see main report) which could be undertaken to 

reduce demand in the Transport team as referenced by the application above, benchmarking would 

suggest that the team is under-resourced. Currently, there are c12 staff in the team involved in day-

Page 79



 

42 
 

to-day operations, a ratio of c125 pupils per head. A better ratio would be c1:100. Further work 

would be recommended to understand where additional resource would support the team, but this 

would create additional capacity to undertake route mapping etc. and activities which would add 

value but which are not currently undertaken.  

Independent Travel: The Council do not currently either deliver direct, or commission external, 

independent travel training which was removed during a previous re-structure. Whilst it is 

understood that some travel training is delivered direct by Schools, it does not appear that there is a 

consistent arrangement or specification in place for this training. It is considered highly likely that ITT 

would deliver significant savings for the Council given the relative costs of training a child versus 

ongoing support, whilst also improving outcomes for the Child in terms of improved independence. 

A specification should be developed in terms of how the Service would be delivered, in addition to a 

process for how suitable children would be put forward for training. Training is typically targeted 

from Year 9 onwards by authorities, but some will start as early as Year 7, whilst other Children may 

only become suitable in Year 11, or post 16.  

Table 06: 

The above initiatives have been quantified in the table below:  

  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Pick up Points £55,000 £110,000 £110,000 £110,000 

Personal Budgets  £118,500 £177,750 £237,000 £237,000 

Enhanced Budgets  £70,000 £147,000 £147,000 £147,000 

Route Mapping  £92,500 £185,000 £185,000 £185,000 

Non-Cashable 

Applications  Non cashable 

Investment  

Investment in Back Office team -£150,000 -£150,000 -£150,000 -£150,000 

Investment in Technology -£55,000 -£55,000 -£55,000 -£55,000 

Independent Travel Training 

Investment in ITT team -£50,000 -£100,000 -£100,000 -£100,000 

Independent Travel  £0 £44,632 £189,613 £469,869 

          

Total £81,000 £359,382 £563,613 £843,869 

 

It should be noted that the savings detailed above are based on the ‘as is’ picture in terms of current 

demand/costs. More complex modelling could be undertaken to account for future demand, and 

inflationary increases, which would increase the potential benefits.  

Calculations: 

Page 80



 

43 
 

• Pick up points: Will be Council dependent, but likely 3-9% savings on route prices with 

higher savings possible if pick-up-points are not used at all, and lower if they are used, but at 

a reduced level. Of the Overall spend of £9.55m, only £3.7m is a minibus route. Suggest 3% 

of total spend, equivalent of £110k given pick up points are used. Assume 50% saving in Year 

1, increase to full in Year 2.  

• Personal Budgets: Uptake of PTBs is c2.5%. This equates to 38. Average cost of PTBs is 

£4,019 so cost of PTBs, £152k. If uptake was increased to 15% (225), this would increase 

spend to £905k. A net saving of £439k (6363 x 187 = £1191k. 2244 x 187 = 752). However, if 

increased overall mileage to £0.55 to support increase, this would reduce savings to £237k. 

(Calcs for this shown on spreadsheet). Assume 50% saving in Year 1, before increasing in 

25% increments.  

• Enhanced Budgets: NCC have a significant volume of high-cost taxi routes. All taxi routes 

over £10k (268) are delivered at an average of £21k, whereas taxi routes over £20k (145) are 

delivered at an average of £31k per route. The Council should look to approach all families 

on routes over £20k with an enhanced budget, and could set a maximum of £10k. If 5% of 

families currently receiving transport took up this off (7), this could save the Council c£147k. 

Assume 50% saving year 1, increase to full in year 2.  

• Route Mapping: If no route mapping software currently used then 20-30% savings possible. 

Total minibus spend is c£3.7m. However, the Service do undertake route mapping and do 

use software, albeit on only 25% of routes per annum. Consequently, a conservative figure 

could be 5%. This would equate to £185k. Assume 50% saving in Year 1, increasing to full 

amount in Year 2.  

• Staffing: Currently they are a ratio of c125 pupils per head (1502 / 12). A better ratio would 

be c1:100. This would mean an increase in c3 staff, or £150k. Full year effect in Year 1. 

However, could consider delay, as many other recommendations will free up capacity, and 

then assess. In addition to core x3 core staff, a further x2 staff (part time) have been 

included to deliver the Independent Travel training detailed below (£50k in Year 1, rising to 

£100k in Year 2 and 3).  

• Technology: Work completed recently with benchmark Council (1600 pupils, £10m annual 

spend), who have recently been quoted a price for a similar system to the one proposed by 

Northumberland of £55k per annum for a 3-year contract. This includes both supplier/parent 

portals, vehicle tracking, real time alerts, route mapping, and implementation costs. Note – 

the above does not include NCC costs of implementation. Assume £55k per annum, starting 

in Year 1.   

Page 81



 

44 
 

• Independent Travel: In-house, should cost c£3.5K per child to train. Current costs of £6363k 

per child. For purposes of modelling, assume 2 providers in year 1, increase to 4 in year 2. 

Typically, would target Year 9 onwards, so for purposes of modelling have assumed 2 full 

years of financial benefit. 

 

 

5. Annex 01: Methodology 

 

i. To understand the current systems and processes for NCC commissioned transport a series 
of semi structured interviews were conducted with internal stakeholders. 

 

Interview theme - Financial Governance. 

Interviewees: 

• Principal Accountant – Children’s Services 

•     Senior Accountant – Children’s Services 

• Principal Accountant – Local Services 

• Senior Accountant – Local Services 

 

Interview theme - Operational Finance. 

Interviewees: 

• Transport Contracts & Compliance Manager – Passenger Transport Team. 

 

Interview theme - Operations Management. 

Interviewees: 

• Passenger Transport Manager - Passenger Transport Team. 

 

Interview theme - Monitoring & Compliance. 

Interviewees: 

• Passenger Transport Manager - Passenger Transport Team. 

• Monitoring, Compliance and Enforcement Officer - Passenger Transport Team. 

 

Interview theme - SEND Transport Applications. 

Interviewees: 

• Team Manager SEND - Children's Services. 

• EHCP Co-ordinator - Children's Services. 

 

Page 82



 

45 
 

Interview theme - Children’s Social Care Transport. 

Interviewees: 

• Team Manager 01 – Children’s Social Care. 

• Team Manager 02 – Children’s Social Care. 

• Team Manager 01 – Children’s Safeguarding. 

• Team Manager 02 – Children’s Safeguarding. 

 

Interview theme - Adult Social Care Transport. 

Interviewees: 

• Senior Manager – Adult Social Care 

• General Manager – Adult Social Care 

• Service Development Manager - Safeguarding & Strategic Commissioning 

 

Interview theme - Operations Delivery. 

Interviewees: 

• Transport Network Officer 01 - Passenger Transport Team. 

• Transport Network Officer 02 - Passenger Transport Team. 

• Administrative Assistant - Passenger Transport Team. 

• Passenger Transport Manager - Passenger Transport Team. 

 

Interview theme - Strategic Integration. 

Interviewees: 

• Head of School Organisation & Resources – Children’s Services. 

 

Interview theme - Management Information Systems and I.T. 

Interviewees: 

• Senior Manager - Performance and Systems Support - Children's Services. 

• Systems Support & Development Manager - Children's Services. 

 

ii. To establish a broad perspective on local authority home to school transport infrastructures 
across the United Kingdom semi structured interviews were conducted with an external 
consultancy and a range of other local authorities. 

 

Interview theme - Home-to-school Transport Consultancy Sector Experience Across UK. 

Interviewees: 

• TAS Partnership ltd. 

Page 83



 

46 
 

 

Interview theme - Home-to-school Transport models, systems and challenges. 

Interviewees (5 separate sessions): 

• Devon County Council. 

• Lincolnshire County Council. 

• Norfolk Council. 

• Wiltshire Council. 

• Surrey County Council. 

 

iii. To understand the needs, feelings, experiences and to help shape service user consultations 
parent and carer representative bodies were consulted. 

 

Interview theme - SEND Transport Users. 

Interviewees: 

• Northumberland Parent Carer Forum contributors. 

• Parent of a young person with SEND who has previously engaged with NCC on transport 
related topics. 

 

iv. To understand the experience of service users and applicants for transport services a range 
of public consultations were created on the Citizen Space platform and distributed directly 
to identified user groups via Microsoft Power Automate. 

 

Service user consultation surveys: 

 

• SEND home to school transport users* (76 responses). 

• Mainstream home to school transport users* (256 responses). 

• Post 16 home to school transport users* (58 responses). 

• Applicants** for SEND home to school transport (5 responses). 

• Applicants** for Mainstream home to school transport (52 responses). 

 

* Users who applied for and were awarded transport, having experienced both aspects, 

this should be considered when interpreting satisfaction scores. 

** Applicants who were not awarded transport but who experienced the application 

process, this should be considered when interpreting satisfaction scores. 

 

v. To evaluate the robustness of safeguarding during home to school transport in addition to 
that undertaken as part of the main review activity an NCC safeguarding professional was 

Page 84



 

47 
 

engaged to perform unannounced checks upon vehicles at school sites and general policy 
and safeguarding review. 

 

Theme – policy, vehicle and driver readiness, driver safeguarding knowledge, following of 
processes. 

Facilitator: 

• Team Manager - Schools' Safeguarding. 

 

vi. To understand the systems and processes of Northumberland County Council transport 
delivery a range of operational information was reviewed including: 

 

• NCC transport policies and supporting documents. 

• Central government policy and guidance for transport. 

• Access to admin/application system and key differences for different audiences: Pre 16, Post 

16, SEN Pre-16, SEN Post 16. 

• Transport appeals procedure. 

• Organisation chart 

• Details of Lot 1 to Lot 6, scope of each. 

• Details of the DPS application, questionnaire, self-certification system, etc. 

• Examples of local bus service commissioning process. 

• Examples of the operator compliance process issued prior to agreeing contract. 

• Examples of assurance audit monitoring, compliance and spot check info. 

• Link to operators’ web pages. 

• Examples of safeguarding/DBS info help by transport compliance officers. 

• Example of spot check schedule of activity. 

• Examples of pro-active spot checks. 

• Examples of reactive spot checks. 

• Examples of depot compliance checks. 

• Back record of historic complaints. 

• Example social services referral form. 

• Example EHCP learner referral. 

• Examples of communications from mainstream application system. 

• Examples of monthly budget reports. 

• Examples of quarterly performance reports with KPI’s. 

 

Page 85



 

48 
 

 

 

Appendices 
 

 

6. Appendices 

 

Appendix 01: Terms of Reference.  

Terms of Ref - 

January 2022.pdf  

Appendix 02: Home to school policy review briefing. 

Home to school 

policy review briefing paper - Rev 02.pdf
 

Appendix 03: Post 16 Home to school policy review briefing. 

Post 16 Transport 

review briefing paper - Rev 02.pdf
 

Appendix 04: Appeals process review briefing 

Appeals briefing 

paper - Rev 01.pdf
 

Appendix 05: Safeguarding review briefing 

Safeguarding 

briefing paper - Rev 02.pdf
 

Appendix 06: Operational Recommendations 

Operational 

Recommendations - FINAL.pdf
 

 Appendix 07: Resident service user feedback summary reports. 

Key Points - Home to 

School Transport in Northumberland - 256 Responses.pdf
  

Key Points - Home to 

School Transport for SEND Pupils - 76 Responses.pdf
 

Key Points - Post 16 

Education Transport - 58 Responses.pdf
 

Key Points - Home to 

School Transport Applicants - 52 Responses.pdf
 

Key Points - Home to 

School Transport Application for SEND - 5 Responses.pdf
 

             

 

Page 86



 

49 
 

 

 

Author and Contact Details 

 

 

 

Neil Dorward 

Senior Manager - Education Development & Collaborative Projects 

Mob: 07811 020 806 

email: neil.dorward@northumberland.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 87

mailto:neil.dorward@northumberland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



16 May 2023 - CA 

 
 
 
 

 
Northumberland County Council 

 
Family and Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 
Work Programme and Monitoring Report 2023 - 2024 

 
 
 
 
 

Chris Angus, Scrutiny Officer 
01670 622604 - Chris.Angus@Northumberland.gov.uk 
 

 
 

  

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 8

mailto:Chris.Angus@Northumberland.gov.uk


16 May 2023 - CA 

TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
 

 

(a) To monitor, review and make recommendations about:  
  

• Early Years  
• Education and Schools  
• Special education needs and disability   
• Adult and Community Education  
• Training and Vocational Education  
• Lifelong Learning  
• Youth Offending  
• Social Services for Children and Young People  
• Children’s Health  
• Teenage Sexual Health  
• Looked After Children  
• Safeguarding – Children  
• Youth Services  
• Family Services  
• Children’s Centres  

  
(b) To oversee and monitor school improvement, as follows:  
  

(i) To receive feedback on the Ofsted inspection of schools.  
  
(ii) To support the work of the County Council and the progress of schools on the School Intervention and Support 

Programme in specified categories.  
  
(iii) To receive an annual report about the number of schools that have been on the School Intervention and Support 

Programme, the reason(s) for their inclusion, the support given by the Council and the success of this support.  
  
(iv) To receive an annual report on the performance of schools.  

 
 
 

P
age 90



16 May 2023 - CA 

 
ISSUES TO BE SCHEDULED/CONSIDERED 

 
 
Regular updates:  
 
Safeguarding Activity Trends Report 
Finance and Performance Six Monthly Report 
Children Permanently Excluded from School/Elective Home Education 
Schools performance 
Joint Targeted Area Inspection  
 
 
Issues to be raised: 
 
 
Themed Scrutiny: 
 
 
 
Issues to be scheduled: 
 
School Capital Investment  
Education (Guidance about the cost of School Uniforms) Act 2021 
 
 
 

 
 
  

P
age 91



16 May 2023 - CA 

 

Northumberland County Council 
Family and Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Work Programme 2023 - 2024 

1 June 2023 

 Home to School Transport Review 
 
 
 
 
 
Annual Report of the Principle Social Worker 

To communicate to FACS the recommendations emerging from the 
home to school transport review and the progress to date in 
commencing initiatives in response to the recommendations. 
 
 
 
To advise and update the Scrutiny Committee about the input and 
work of the Principal Social Worker and an overview of the quality of 
practice and development needs of frontline social workers. 

18 July 2023 

 Outcomes of the formal Berwick Partnership 
Consultation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fostering Annual Report  
 
 
 
 
Education Strategy Board Update 

This report sets out the findings from the formal consultation 
meetings that have taken place with schools in the Berwick 
Partnership to discuss the organisation of schools in the partnership.  
The views of FACS will be reported to Cabinet 
 
 
 
To provide an overview of the Fostering Service In line with statutory 
guidance and regulation, all Fostering Services have to provide a 
report on the outcomes of the service. 
 
 
A report from the Education Strategy Board on the Boards initial 
priorities as agreed by FACS in 2020/21 

P
age 92



16 May 2023 - CA 

7 September 2023 

 Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Annual 
Report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SEND Annual Report 

The Annual Report provides an account of the activity of the 
Independent Reviewing Officer Service. It evaluates the 
effectiveness and impact of the IRO Service in the planning and 
outcomes for Our Children and Young People and ensuring that 
Northumberland as a Corporate Parent is discharging its statutory 
responsibilities. 
 
 
This report informs the committee of progress made against the four 
strategic priorities detailed within the Northumberland SEND 
Strategy 2021-2024 

5 October 2023 

   

2 November 2023 

   

7 December 2023 

 Care Proceedings and Public Law Outline: 
Annual Report on progress 

To present Children’s Services’ performance within legal 
proceedings 

4 January 2024 

 National Funding Formula and School Funding 
2025/26 

To set out the results of the National Funding Formula (NFF) and 
the implications for 2025/26 School Funding in Northumberland. The 
views of FACS will be reported to Cabinet 

P
age 93



16 May 2023 - CA 

 

1 February 2024 

 School Admission Arrangements for Community 
and Voluntary Controlled Schools for 2025/2026 
Academic Year 

This report informs Cabinet of the outcomes of the consultation on 
School Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary 
Controlled Schools for the 2025/26 Academic Year as required by 
the School Admissions Code 2014. Approval (determination) of 
these admission arrangements is also sought. The views of FACS 
will be reported to Cabinet 
 

7 March 2024 

 Director of Education Annual Report: Key 
Educational Outcomes (2022-2023 Academic 
Year) 

Annual report on the key educational outcomes of the previous 
academic year. The Committee will be asked to identify any 
further areas for scrutiny.    

4 April 2024 

   

25 April 2024 

   

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 94



16 May 2023 - CA 

 
 

Northumberland County Council 
Family and Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee Monitoring Report 2023-2024 

Ref Date Report Decision Outcome 

     

 

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest
	Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests
	Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests

	3 MINUTES
	5 FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS
	6 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CHILDREN'S PRINCIPAL SOCIAL WORKER
	7 HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT REVIEW BRIEFING.
	05a Appendix 01 - Strategic Recommendations - Rev 11.0

	8 FAMILY AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME AND MONITORING REPORT 2023/24



